Rochester Institute of Technology RIT Digital Institutional Repository

Theses

8-2014

Separation of single-walled carbon nanotubes by gel-based chromatography using surfactant step-gradient techniques and development of new instrumentation for studying SWCNT reaction processes

Leonard M. Breindel

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.rit.edu/theses

Recommended Citation

Breindel, Leonard M., "Separation of single-walled carbon nanotubes by gel-based chromatography using surfactant step-gradient techniques and development of new instrumentation for studying SWCNT reaction processes" (2014). Thesis. Rochester Institute of Technology. Accessed from

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the RIT Libraries. For more information, please contact repository@rit.edu.

Separation of single-walled carbon nanotubes by gel-based chromatography using surfactant step-gradient techniques and development of new instrumentation for studying SWCNT reaction processes

Leonard M. Breindel

B.S. Chemistry, State University of New York at Oswego, Oswego, NY, USA, 13126

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Chemistry in the School of Chemistry and Materials Science, College of Science Rochester Institute of Technology

August 2014

Signature of the Author _____

Accepted by _____

Director, M.S. Degree Program

Date

SCHOOL OF CHEMISTRY AND MATERIALS SCIENCE COLLEGE OF SCIENCE ROCHESTER INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY ROCHESTER, NEW YORK

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

M.S. DEGREE THESIS

The M.S. Degree Thesis of Leonard M. Breindel has been examined and approved by the thesis committee as satisfactory for the thesis required for the M.S. degree in Chemistry.

Dr. John-David R. Rocha, Thesis Advisor

Dr. Christopher J. Collison, Committee Member

Dr. Nathan C. Eddingsaas, Committee Member

Dr. Reginald E. Rogers, Jr., Committee Member

Date

ABSTRACT

Single-walled carbon nanotube (SWCNT) synthesis methods such as CoMoCATTM, HiPcoTM, pulsed laser vaporization (PLV), and catalytic chemical vapor deposition (CCVD) produce several different distributions of (n,m) SWCNT structures, where (n,m) defines the nanotube diameter and chiral wrapping angle. Post-synthesis processing such as functionalization and/or separations must therefore be employed to yield high purity electronic or single (n,m) samples. Through the use of a surfactant gradient across a gel-based chromatographic column, separations of single (n,m) species can be achieved. Anionic surfactants such as SDS, SDBS, and AOT display different separation effectiveness for single (n,m) species. Results of near-infrared optical absorption for separated SWCNT surfactant suspensions will be discussed, leading to a broader understanding of the important factors necessary for the gel chromatography separation technique. In particular, the effects of SWCNT/surfactant micelle structure are found to be key to achieving fast, simple SWCNT electronic type separations. Additionally, development of instrumentation for the near-infrared new spectrofluorimetric analysis (NIR-SFA) of SWCNTs is useful to the advancement of fundamental SWCNT research and applications. NIR-SFA, for instance, allows for the (n,m) structures of a sample to be identified and monitored during the progress of a chemical reaction or separation experiment. Seeking to achieve the time resolutions necessary for such experiments, the design and optimizations of a system utilizing singlewavelength excitation by diode lasers coupled with a fast NIR detection system are presented.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge several people that were vital in the completion of my research success at RIT. First I would like to acknowledge Dr. John-David Rocha, my research advisor, who gave me the opportunity to do research in his lab and provide guidance during my studies that allowed me to grow as a researcher. He provided me with the opportunity to present my research at two conferences and pushed me to work independently and showed me how to better my skills so that I may be a successful.

The member of my research committee have given me guidance during my studies that ensured I understand all aspects of my research and are able to convey my results in a way that is appropriate. Dr. Nathan Eddingsaas as well as serving on my committee offered me guidance when I was having trouble achieving emission with my instrument, through discussion about optics and help with my instrument Dr. Eddingsaas helped me greatly. Dr. Reginald Rogers provide me with an outside perspective that showed me how important it was to be able to clearly convey my work. Dr. Rogers also provided me we guidance not only in the direction of my research but also guidance in life outside of science. Dr. Christopher Collison although on sabbatical for a period of time during my studies provided me with guidance when it came to understanding the true purpose of my research and understand how important it is to understand what you are really trying to research. Dr. Collison also helped me understand the fundamental aspects of light absorption and emission of light.

Acknowledgement also must be made to Dr. Thomas Smith my research group with no only lab space and equipment to work with but also guidance in the role surfactants play in the separation of single-walled carbon nanotubes.

iv

Finally I would like to acknowledge my family who provide me with moral support during my studies and encouragement when research was becoming overwhelming.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	. iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	.iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	. vi
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 What is a single-walled carbon nanotube?	1
1.2 Geometric construction of SWCNTs	1
1.3 SWCNT production methods	3
1.3.1 SWCNT production by solid/liquid/plasma catalysis	4
1.3.2 SWCNT production by chemical vapor deposition (CVD)	6
1.4 SWCNT post-production techniques	7
1.5 SWCNT spectroscopic characterization techniques	10
1.5.1 Raman spectroscopy	12
1.5.2 Absorbance spectroscopy	.13
1.5.3 Fluorescence spectroscopy	.14
1.6 Uses of SWCNT fluorescence	16
1.6.1 SWCNT kinetics	. 17
1.7 Current Research Needs	19
CHAPTER 2 – INSTRUMENTATION FOR SWCNT FAST KINETIC ANALYSIS B	Y
NEAR-INFRARED SPECTROFLUORIMETRY	20
2.1 Basics of spectrofluorimetry instrumentation	20
2.1.1 Fluorescence of SWCNTs	21
2.1.2 SWCNT specific issues in classic spectrofluorimetry	. 22
2.2 Modifying the classic fluorimeter for SWCNTs	.23
2.3 New instrument	26
CHAPTER 3 – UNDERSTANDING OF INTERACTIONS LEADING TO	
SEPARATIONS OF METALLIC AND SEMICONDUCTINGSWCNT DISPERSION	S
VIA STEP-GRADIENT GEL CHROMATOGRAPHY	38
3.1 Introduction	38
3.2 Experimental Methods	42

3.2.1 Sample Preparation	42
3.2.2 Chromatography	42
3.2.3 Absorption spectroscopy	43
3.3 Results and Discussion	43
3.3.1 Theory behind separation	43
3.3.2 Retention of semiconducting SWCNTs to Sephacryl gel	44
3.3.3 Separation by SDS gradient	46
3.3.4 Peak analysis of SDS fractions	49
3.3.5 Separation by SDBS gradient	52
3.3.6 Separation by AOT gradient	53
3.3.7 Peak analysis of AOT fractions	56
3.3.8 Implications of AOT	58
3.4 Conclusions	59
CHAPTER 4 – CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK	61
4.1 Conclusions	61
4.2 Future work	62
REFERENCES	65
APPENDIX	68
A1. LabVIEW code	68
A2. Plots of SWCNT separations using AOT at two different concentrations, 0.66 and 9 mM.	mM 69
A3. SWeNT data sheets – SG65i	70

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1) Graphene sheet map of SWCNT (*n*,*m*) distribution

Figure 1.2) Laser pulse single-walled carbon nanotube production method

Figure 1.3) Arc discharge single-walled carbon nanotube production method

Figure 1.4) Chemical Vapor deposition single-walled carbon nanotube production method

Figure 1.5) Bundles of single-walled carbon nanotubes post production

Figure 1.6) Common surfactants used to isolate individual single-walled carbon naotubes from bundles

Figure 1.7) Density of states for metallic and semiconducting SWCNTs

Figure 1.8) Raman spectra of metallic and semiconducting SWCNTs

Figure 1.9) Absorbance spectra of metallic and semiconducting SWCNTs

Figure 1.10) Valence and conduction band for semiconducting SWCNTs

Figure 1.11) Diagram on SWCNTs used for the detection of nerve agents

Figure 2.1) Classic model of fluorometer with 90 degree detection angle

Figure 2.2) Experimental and computational spectra for single wavelength excitation

Figure 2.3) Diagram of instrument developed at Rice University by Rocha et al.

Figure 2.4) 2D fluorescence map of semiconducting SWCNT showing overlapping of

emission at wavelengths 561 nm, 640 nm, 660 nm, and 730nm

Figure 2.5) Diagram of new instrument design

Figure 2.6) Image of sample holders constructed for instrument

Figure 2.7) Image of mirror mount constructed for instrument

Figure 2.8) Front panel of LabVIEW software for instrument

Figure 2.9) Illustration of how focusing mirror can improve detection of emitted light

Figure 2.10) Illustration of how sample holder can lead to decrease in detection

Figure 3.1) Separation of metallic and semiconducting SWCNTs

Figure 3.2) SDS gradient results

Figure 3.3) Separation of different (*n*,*m*) by SDS

Figure 3.4) Representative absorbance spectrum with simulated spectral data.

Figure 3.5) Summary of peak fitting for fractions with SDS gradient

Figure 3.6) Illustration of absorbance data for SDBS based gradient elution

Figure 3.7) AOT structure

Figure 3.8) Illustration of absorbance data for SDBS based gradient elution, top-non-

normalized, bottom-normalized

Figure 3.9) Comparison of fractions collected from AOT gradient elution. The typical m-

SWCNT fraction collected is also show for further comparison

Figure 3.10) Summary of peak fitting for fractions with AOT gradient, Pictures of fractions

Figure 3.11) AOT suspension and separation

CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION

1.1 What is a single-walled carbon nanotube?

Single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) are a nanostructure of carbon that has unique physical and electrical properties making it a topic of interest in many different fields of research ranging from alternative energy, to electrical wires, and uses for their textile strength.¹ When visualizing single-walled carbon nanotubes it is best to relate SWCNTs to graphene. When one thinks of a graphite pencil writing onto a sheet of paper, the pencil deposits several layers of graphene with each stroke of the pencil. If you were to remove one of these sheets of graphene and roll the sheet into a tube, one will have created a SWCNT.

1.2 Geometric construction of SWCNTs

SWCNTs vary in the diameter of the tube, ranging from 0.7 - 5.0 nm, but are commonly grown with diameters < 2 nm.¹⁻³ Diameter is one of the two attributes that result in the variation on physical and electrical properties, the other being chirality. When rolling the graphene sheet, the two edges of the graphene sheet have the ability to meet at a variety of different angles, sometimes resulting in chirality of the tube. This chirality of the SWCNT along with its diameter changes overlapping of the sp² hybridized carbons resulting in different electrical properties of SWCNTs.⁴

When considering a graphene sheet, SWCNTs can be characterized through vector components that will result in the rolling of different SWCNTs, these vectors give insight into the small differences in the diameter and chiral angle of the SWCNT. When considering a unit cell in a graphene sheet, the vectors from the center of the unit cell to the centers of the two adjacent cells can be considered R_1 and R_2 . When rolling a

1

SWCNT from a graphene sheet, the sum of the number horizontal steps (n) and the number of vertical steps (m) results in the roll-up vector of the SWCNT (Equation 1.1).

$$R = n_1 R_1 + m_2 R_2 \tag{1.1}$$

(*n*,*m*) vectors represent the difference in the conformation of the benzene rings in SWCNTs, "*n*" representing a zigzag conformation of the benzene rings while "*m*" representing the armchair configuration (Figure 1.1). From the (*n*,*m*) values, the diameter and chiral angle of the SWCNT can be calculated from equations 1.2 and 1.3.⁵ For instance if we consider a SWCNT with an (*n*,*m*) of (9,4), then the chiral angle would be $\theta = 17.5^{\circ}$, and the diameter would be d = 0.916 nm (Fig. 1.1).

$$\cos\theta = \frac{n + \frac{m}{2}}{\sqrt{n^2 + nm + m^2}} \tag{1.2}$$

$$d = \frac{a_o}{\pi} \sqrt{n^2 + nm + m^2}$$
(1.3)



Figure 1.1 – A graphene sheet map, shows the different species of SWCNTs that result for a combination of the *n* and *m* values. (*n*,0) results in a zig-zag SWCNT that has a chiral angle of 0° , (*n* = *m*) results in an armchair SWCNT with a chiral angle of 30° . Two thirds of all SWCNTs are semiconducting, while only one third are metallic.

In any given sample of single-walled carbon nanotubes there are a variety nanotubes with different electrical properties.⁶ SWCNTs fall into two different groups of electrical properties, nanotubes that have metallic electrical properties and nanotubes that have semiconducting electrical properties.⁷ A general sample set of SWCNTs has a composition of 1/3 metallic SWCNTs and 2/3 semiconducting SWCNTs, indicated by the red and black hexagons, respectively, in Figure 1.1.⁸ To determine the electric nature of a single carbon nanotube one can look at the (n,m) of each nanotube, if mod[(n-m),3] = 0the SWCNT is metallic and $mod[(n-m),3] \neq 0$ the SWCNT is semiconducting.⁹ This rule allows for trends to be observed in the electronic properties, when n = m the SWCNT is always in the armchair conformation and metallic in the electrical properties, when (n,0)the SWCNT is always in the zig-zag conformation but not always semiconducting.¹⁰ For example, when examining the (7,1) - mod[(7-1),3] = 0, the SWCNT is metallic; while when examining (6,5) - mod[(6-5),3] = 1, the SWCNT is semiconducting. Large-scale production methods have yet to achieve the ability to specifically control the range of species of SWCNTs produced to a single type of either electronic character or (n,m)species. An explanation of the common production techniques and their pros and cons are discussed in the next section.

1.3 SWCNT production methods

SWCNTs production can be broken down into two different groups: solid/liquid/plasma catalysis and chemical vapor deposition (CVD).¹¹ Two of the main methods of SWCNT production when considering solid/liquid/plasma catalysis are arc discharge and pulsed laser vaporization (PLV). These methods are based off the utilization of a solid carbon source, like a disk of graphite, that is embedded with

3

nanoparticles of a transition metal catalyst. Often in production, transition metals such as Fe, Co, and Ni are used.^{12, 13}

1.3.1 SWCNT production by solid/liquid/plasma catalysis

Laser pulse production (Figure 1.2) is the first of the solid/laser/plasma methods to be discussed. Laser pulse production starts with the transition metal doped graphite disk being placed into a tube furnace filled with argon gas and raised to a temperature of ~1200 0 C. When the transition metal doped graphite disk reaches the appropriate temperature a laser is pulsed into the graphite target, and in most cases, a frequency doubled 532 nm neodymium-doped yttrium aluminum garnet (Nd-YAG) laser is used.



Figure 1.2 – The laser pulse production method was the first to discover SWCNTs in an attempt to better understand buckyballs.¹⁴

After impact by the laser on the disk, a highly charged solid-liquid-plasma is generated that results in excited carbon and metal catalyst particles ejected from the disk and flow down the tube. As the excited particles move down the tube they are attracted to the transition metal catalysts, forming six member rings leading to the growth of SWCNTs around the catalyst particles. Once reacted a cooling cone collects the newly formed SWCNTs. While one tube is growing on one facet of a transition metal nanoparticle, other SWCNTs may also be growing on another facet. Grown tubes are collected on the cooled collecting cone for further processing. Laser pulse production typically produces SWCNTs with diameters ranging from 1.2 - 1.6 nm.¹⁴

The second form of solid/laser/plasma production methods is arc discharge production (Figure 1.3). Arc discharge uses the same transition metal doped graphite disk that is used in the laser pulse production method, but rather as the anode in the electrical circuit. With a second graphite disk as the cathode and an interelectrode gas containing helium (sometimes Ar or N₂), ionized carbon, and neutral carbon under pressure (660 mbar), a current of 100 A and voltage drop of 30 V is discharged across the cathode and anode. Ejected excited carbon atoms and transition metal nanoparticles form SWCNTs in the same manner as mentioned in the description of laser pulse production.¹⁵ During production runs the transition metal doped graphite disk is rotated to allow for even ejecting of material. Arc discharge typically production produces SWCNTs with diameters that range from 1 - 1.4 nm.¹



Figure 1.3 – Arc-discharge production.¹⁶

1.3.2 SWCNT production by chemical vapor deposition (CVD)

Production of SWCNTs by chemical vapor deposition (CVD) (Figure 1.4) differs from solid/laser/plasma production in that is based on the decomposition of gaseous or volatile compounds containing carbon.¹⁷ Like solid/laser/plasma production, CVD production methods rely on the use of a transition metal catalyst such as Fe, Co, and Ni for the formation of SWCNTs. Production by CVD is not exclusive to the formation of SWCNTs, CVD also has the ability to produce multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) and other nanostructures of carbon such as graphene and Buckyballs (C_{60}).² CVD production has the ability to produce kg per day quantities and have better diameter control than solid/laser/plasma production methods.¹¹





The first of the two main production methods that utilize CVD is high pressure catalytic decomposition of carbon monoxide (HiPco). HiPco production is a high pressure method that operates at pressures around 30 - 50 atm and temperatures of 900 - 1100 °C. HiPco works by passing a combination of cold carbon monoxide (CO) with a

catalyst source such as $Fe(CO)_5$ through a nozzle that will rapidly decompose the CO and catalyst source allowing for the formation of SWCNTs. To add to this decomposition, hot CO is added to the reaction at the nozzle to produce an additional carbon source. Metal catalysts used in HiPco and other CVD methods are the same metals that are used in solid/laser/plasma production. HiPco production generally yields SWCNTs with a diameter range of 0.8 - 1.2 nm.^{2, 19}

The second CVD method for large-scale production is Co-Mo bimetallic catalyst (CoMoCAT). CoMoCAT works under the same ideas as HiPco with some changes to the method. CoMoCAT production operates at pressures of 1 - 10 atm and temperatures of 700 - 950 °C. CoMoCAT also differs from HiPco in the way that it introduces the catalyst to the CO feedstock, HiPco is a floating catalyst method while CoMoCAT is a supported catalyst, embedding the catalyst in silica particles. This creates a fluidized bed as the catalyst is released into a flow of CO gas in the reactor.²⁰ CoMoCAT production offers a finer control on the diameter range, commonly 0.7 - 0.9 nm. This reduced diameter range results in a high control of (*n*,*m*) diversity in SWCNT samples.³

1.4 SWCNT post-production techniques

After production of SWCNTs is complete the next step before the material can be used is the removal of the transition metal catalyst from the SWCNTs. This is most often achieved through a strong acid reflux. Nitric acid has shown to be efficient at removing up to 90% of non-tubular carbon and dissolves metal oxides leftover from the catalyst. For CoMoCAT produced SWCNTs, the removal of silica support is achieved through a hydrofluoric acid digest as silica represents 90 wt% of the collected materials. With the nitric acid reflux and hydrofluoric acid digest working to remove unwanted material, it also oxidizes the SWCNTs creating COOH groups on the nanotube ends were the metal catalyst has been removed and along the length of the tube where an imperfection may have been removed. Removal of COOH groups is achieved by placing the SWCNTs into a furnace to burn off any imperfections.

To further our understanding of SWCNTs, photophysical properties can be investigated, First sample preparations must be employed. During the production process newly formed SWCNTs aggregate into bundles due to weak interactions to neighboring SWCNTS during production. Figure 1.5 illustrates a few examples of these SWCNT bundles for raw production materials from both the arc discharge method and the HiPco process. Bundles of SWCNTS have a negative effect in photophysical processes as they often lead to peak broadening. Peak broadening is a result of the excited state of one SWCNT being transferred to a neighboring SWCNT in a bundle; this can be due to absorbance of emitted light from neighboring SWCNTs and vibrational relaxation.²² In order to be able to use photophysical properties to better understand SWCNTs, these bundles need to be separated.

8



Figure 1.5 – Bungles of different sizes form during the SWCNT production process and have a negative effect on the photophysics of SWCNTs and it leads to peak broadening in absorbance and an inner filter effect during fluorescence.²³

One method of breaking up the bundles is to place the SWCNTs in a surfactant that will allow for their separation or isolation. Commonly used surfactant is sodium dodecylsulfate (SDS), sodium dodecylbenzenesulfonate (SDBS), and sodium cholate (SC)(Figure 1.6). When the surfactant is sonicated in the presence of SWCNTs creates micelles around each of the SWCNTs. The micelle structure has the form of hydrophobic aliphatic tails of SDS and SDBS aligning with the tube sidewalls, or in the case of SC the carbon ring system lies flat on the tube surface, while the hydrophilic headgroups like sulfates or hydroxyls face outwards towards the aqueous solvent. As the surfactants begin to surround the SWCNTs during the sonication process, the van der Waals forces keeping the bundles together are broken and thus releasing individual tubes from larger bundles. After sonication, the suspension is next centrifuged to separate the newly isolated SWCNTs from the bundles of SWCNTs that the SDS was not able to break apart and any other nano-carbon structures that the post-production cleanup left behind.²²



Sodium Cholate Figure 1.6 – Structures of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), sodium dodecylbenzenesulfonate (SDBS), and sodium cholate (SC).

After sonication and centrifugation, in order to use in some applications or to consider some SWCNT photophysical processes, metallic SWCNTs (m-SWCNTs) must be separated from semiconducting SWCNTs (sc-SWCNTs). Chromatography allows for separation of metallic from semiconducting through the use of a stationary phase such as Sephacryl-200 and a mobile phase of 1 wt% SDS.^{24, 25} Metallic nanotubes elute from the column and result in a yellow-green fraction, while semiconducting SWCNTs elute second and result in a purple fraction. The dominant mechanism affording this electronic SWCNT type separation is still a significant research area, and thus methods to a enhance the process and gain further fundamental understanding are the thrusts of Chapter 3 in this thesis.

1.5 SWCNT spectroscopic characterization techniques

To better understand the photophysical properties that are involved in the characterization of SWCNTs it is easiest to think of the simplest model of the density of

states. SWCNTs are considered to be m-SWCNTs when an overlapping occurs between the occupied π and unoccupied π^* energy levels allowing electrons to freely move between all the energy levels resulting in conduction.²⁶ However in the case of sc-SWCNTs, the occupied π and unoccupied π^* orbitals do not overlap resulting in an energy gap. When considering the density of states (DOS) that indicate the number of available electron states at a given energy level, they show regions of extreme density of electrons in very discrete energy levels. These regions are known as van Hove singularities and reflect the 1D nature of SWCNTs.⁵

Spectroscopic transitions involve transitions from the valence and conduction band pairs often referred as E_{jj} . Metallic SWCNTs exhibit a finite amount of electronic states at the Fermi level, while semiconducting SWCNTs result in forbidden regions of electron density between the conduction and valence bands often referred to as bandgaps. The energy of the bandgap is inversely dependent on the diameter of the SWCNT according to equation 1.4^{26}

$$E_{jj} = 2ja_{\mathcal{C}-\mathcal{C}}\gamma_0/d_t \tag{1.4}$$

where *j* is the transition index, a_{C-C} is the nearest neighbor C-C distance, γ_0 is the nearest neighbor interaction energy, and d_t is the nanotube diameter. m-SWCNTs generally result in an M₁₁ region that lies between ~350 to ~490 nm. sc-SWCNTs usually show two main transitions, the S₁₁ lying in the region of ~820 – 1700 nm and the S₂₂ region lying between ~ 475 – 820 nm (Figure 1.7).²⁷



Figure 1.7 – Figure of density of states of metallic and semiconducting SWCNTs.²⁸ 1.5.1 *Raman spectroscopy*

Raman spectroscopy of SWCNTs has the ability to observe both m- and sc-SWCNTs, as Raman is an examination of the vibrational energy modes.²⁹ Raman spectra illustrate a number of important characteristic peak modes of SWCNTs, like the radial breathing mode (RBM), D-band, G-band, and G'-band (sometimes 2D) (Figure 1.8).³⁰ The RBM intensity of SWCNTs depends on the diameter and chiral angle of the different SWCNTs as well as if the SWCNT is metallic or semiconducting (Figure 1.7).³¹ The ability to use Raman as a spectroscopy method of characterization for SWCNTs in a solution is difficult, since it relies heavily on the use of a highly monochromatic and powerful excitation laser.^{32, 33} In order to be able to use Raman as a broad method of characterization of SWCNTs in solution, the laser excitation wavelengths must align strongly with the various SWCNT bandgaps to induce observable scattering. Since the RBM scattering peaks are the only discriminating peaks for SWCNT (*n*,*m*) or electronic type characterization and exhibit some of the weakest intensity transitions, one will have to incorporate a broadly tunable laser to have a full range of excitation wavelengths, or several different excitation sources must be utilized to cover the appropriate range (~450 - 800 nm). Although both methods of providing multiple sources of excitation are possible, they would be proven to be extremely expensive and not cost efficient.¹⁰



Figure 1.8 – Metallic and semiconducting SWCNT observable using raman spectroscopy. The different (n,m) can be identified through the radial breathing modes. D stands for the amount of diamond like structure that is present in the sample while G stands for the graphene portion of the sample.³⁴

1.5.2 Absorbance spectroscopy

Absorbance spectroscopy has become a common instrumental technique for characterization of SWCNTs due to the ability of most commercial instruments to be outfitted with detectors that can observe light ranging from the ultra-violet all the way to the infrared.³⁵ Absorbance spectroscopy also has the ability to detect both metallic and semiconducting SWCNTs in a solution (Figure 1.9). But this method is not without its fall backs. One of the main fall backs is the inability to differentiate between different (*n*,*m*)-types in solution due to significant overlapping of the spectral peaks. If all of the SWCNTs in solution are not individual SWCNTs after the sonication and centrifugation

steps, any broken bundles, impurities, and SWCNTs with defects will result in a broadening of the peaks and a non-zero baseline.³⁶ As shown in Figure 1.9, absorbance can be used to monitor separation methods that aim to separate metallic from semiconducting SWCNTs, as the regions of metallic and semiconducting differ, but falls short when trying to separate SWCNTs by their different (*n*,*m*)-types.



Figure 1.9 – Absorbance spectra of metallic and semiconducting fractions of separated SWCNTs. Fraction 1 has a stronger absorbance in the M_{11} region indicating a metallic fraction, fraction 2 shows better absorption in the S_{22} and S_{11} regions pointing to a semiconducting fraction.

1.5.3 Fluorescence spectroscopy

One method that has the ability to differentiate between the (n,m) of different SWCNTs in a solution is fluorescence spectroscopy.³⁷ Fluorescence spectroscopy is fairly new to SWCNT research as it was previously thought to be useless because emitted light is reabsorbed by neighboring SWCNTs before it has the ability to leave the bundle. With the addition of sonication and centrifugation to the preparation of samples used in optical studies, fluorescence is now a viable research tool.⁸ Fluorescence spectroscopy normally starts with the excitation of the SWCNT over the E_{22} bandgap, then emission occurs from the E_{11} bandgap (Figure 1.10). One can recall Kasha's rule, which states that emission of light will occur from the lowest conductive band to the highest valence band and is independent of excitation bandgap.⁶ Two dimensional fluorescence mapping (excitation vs emission) of a solution of SWCNTs allows for the identification of different (*n*,*m*) SWCNT types.⁶ When comparing cross sections of excitation and emission of a SWCNT to a study done by Weisman and Bachilo (Rice University) that calculated van Hove optical transitions of all SWCNTs between 0.48 and 2.0 nm, the identity of the different (*n*,*m*) species can be found.⁹ Because fluorescence spectroscopy is dependent of the presence of a bandgap, metallic SWCNTs cannot be observed using this method.



Figure 1.10 – A diagram of the density of states of the valence and conduction bands of semiconducting SWCNTs.⁶

1.6 Uses of SWCNT fluorescence

One interesting use of fluorescence when it comes to SWCNTs is the ability to use fluorescence to understand the kinetics of how well a SWCNT can be functionalized.³⁸ A functional group covalently attaching to a SWCNT sidewall disrupts the π -electron system and thus acts as a fluorescence quenching site, observable as a decrease in detected emission signal. Functionalization of SWCNTs is an important area of research because it allows SWCNTs to be used in commercial applications. Many of the current applications such as gas sensors, drug delivery, semiconductors, and even wires, requires the SWCNTs to be functionalized to some extent in order to better enhance the chemical or physical properties of the SWCNT. One example of this functionalization by Liu, Jinhuai et al.³⁹ at Anhui University is the addition of p-hexafluoro-isopropanol phenyl (HFIPPH) to SWCNTs that will allow for the detection of nerve agents through hydrogen bonds made between the HFIPPH and the nerve agent (Figure 1.11).



Figure 1.11 – SWCNT-HFIPPH with DMMP.³⁹

A second interest in understanding the kinetics of SWCNTs is rooted in the need for a single chirality sample. For use as a semiconductor, SWCNTs must be split into their different electrical properties so they can be properly applied to a given task. Current separation methods as previously discussed had the ability to separate metallic from semiconducting, but most fall short when moving towards single chirality. As will be discussed in Chapter 3, by investigating how a SWCNT interacts with the separation medium one can move towards applying appropriate separation methods to achieve single chirality.

1.6.1 SWCNT kinetics

To investigate the kinetics, real-time fluorescence spectroscopy can be used. By measuring the intensity of the fluorescence of the SWCNTs, functionalization can be monitored by observing emission quenching. Functionalization has a quenching effect of the SWCNT emission because as a ligand attaches to the walls of the SWCNT it confines a free electron to one position reducing the SWCNTs ability to fluoresce. Quenching effects often result in an exponential decay of fluorescence and can be on a rather short time scale, sub-millisecond down to potentially nanosecond timescales. This is significantly slower than average SWCNT fluorescence decay lifetimes that occur on the femtosecond and picosecond timescales.

To better understand the kinetics of real-time fluorescence quenching, a look at bimolecular kinetics when the quencher is in excess can be a good place to start.

$$A + B \to C \tag{1.5}$$

In equation 1.5, A represents a free SWCNT in solution. We can assume that all free SWCNTs in solution will fluoresce, so we can call the concentration of SWCNTs equal to the intensity of the fluorescence, I_F . B represents the ligand to be attached to the SWCNT thus resulting in quenching. C is the newly functionalized SWCNT that does not

17

fluoresce. The rate law of the change in concentration of SWCNTs will look something like this:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}[A]}{\mathrm{dt}} = -k[A][B] \tag{1.6}$$

Where k is the rate constant. Next, equation 1.6 is rearranged so that the equation will be in the form that will allow for the isolation of the change in concentration of SWCNTs.

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}[A]}{[A]} = -k[B]\mathrm{dt} \tag{1.7}$$

An integration of both sides of equation 1.7 from 0 to *A* and 0 to time, *t*, will result in equation 1.8:

$$\ln[A] = -k[B]t \tag{1.8}$$

The last step is to apply the exponential function to both sides of equation 1.8 so that the concentration of SWCNTs can be found with respect to time and concentration of quencher.

$$[A] = e^{-k[B]t} (1.9)$$

Although SWCNT fluorescence quantum yields are low (< 10%), equation 1.9 can be written in respect to intensity of fluorescing SWCNTs as a monitor for the overall behavior of SWCNTs in a suspension:

$$I_{\text{SWCNTS}} = e^{-k[B]t} \tag{1.10}$$

Since under constant excitation high quality SWCNTs typically do not exhibit emission blinking, a monitoring of fluorescence intensity over time will result in a constant signal. This would be the initial state of the system with [B] = 0. The addition of quencher would then be observed as an exponential decay of fluorescence. Using equation 1.8, the slope of the best fit line will be equal to the rate constant times the concentration of the ligand (quencher) initially added to the solution.

1.7 Current Research Needs

Presently studies of SWCNT separations have been hindered by the lack of fundamental mechanistic understandings. Much of the work has been focused on incremental improvements or methods modifications, however pushing the various techniques forward at large-scale will require the ability to know which parameters are relevant to monitor. This will be especially true for advanced applications that for instance may require > 99% purity of SWCNT (*n*,*m*) types.

This thesis will focus on two different aspects of this issue. To address the needs for experimental methods and apparatus to better understand SWCNT interactions with functional groups, Chapter 2 of this thesis will discuss the development of instrumentation that will assist in the understanding of these interactions. In Chapter 3, the focus shifts towards the separation of electronic SWCNT types in practice and developing an understanding of the role surfactants play.

<u>CHAPTER 2 – INSTRUMENTATION FOR SWCNT FAST KINETIC ANALYSIS</u> <u>BY NEAR-INFRARED SPECTROFLUORIMETRY</u>

2.1 Basics of spectrofluorimetry instrumentation

Classic fluorescence is a commonly used analytical technique that is used in many

different areas of chemistry. A standard spectrofluorimeter is illustrated in Figure 2.1.



Simple Fluorometer

Figure 2.1 – A classic model of a fluorometer with a white light source and a 90 degree detection angle.

The basic operation of such an instrument is the following. A Xe-arc halogen lamp as an excitation source produces an array of wavelengths of light that can be used. One wavelength of interest is chosen by a monochromator, and this monochromatic light is now shined onto the entry window in the sample holder and excitation occurs in the sample. After the sample is excited, the emitted fluorescence scatters in 360° but exits the sample holder at a 90° angle from the excitation light and travels to a scanning monochromator. The 90° change in direction from the emission light from the excitation light is to minimize the amount of excitation light that might reach the detector. Emission spectra is red shifted from the absorption spectra generally with large amounts of overlapping between the two spectra so it is important to minimize the amount of excitation light that can reach the detector because it will place an error in the data. After the emission leaves the sample it is separated into the individual wavelengths that make

up the emission by a scanning monochromator. This allows for the unique characteristics of the fluorescence to be observed. After the scanning monochromator separates the emission by wavelength the light reaches the detector that measures the intensity.

2.1.1 Fluorescence of SWCNTs

The use of a classic fluorimeter in the study of SWCNTs allows for individual (n,m) in a sample to be determined. When looking at the emission spectrum of a sample of SWCNTs, the peaks found in the spectrum relate to individual (n,m) species of SWCNTs observed.⁶ This was confirmed in a paper by J.-D. R. Rocha et al. where the Voigt functions of each (n,m) were calculated (Figure 2.2).⁴⁰ After calculating the Voigt functions the overlapping regions were summed.



Figure 2.2 – Experimental vs computational spectra of emission at a excitation of 785nm. Voigt functions for different species of SWCNTs were calculated to show experimental spectra matches that of the computed spectra.⁴⁰

It was found that the resulting simulated spectrum matched the experimental spectrum for

a sample of SWCNTs excited at 785 nm.

Confirming that each (n,m) species of SWCNTs has its own emission profile that

is observable even using off-resonance excitation wavelengths then allows for

development of experimental fluorescence methods that are optimized for interesting SWCNT studies.

2.1.2 SWCNT specific issues in classic spectrofluorimetry

The Classic method of fluorescence detection does have some undesirable issues for SWCNT studies. This is due mainly to an inner filter effect on the emitted light by other SWCNT in solution. The inner filter effect is an event that happens in the sample of SWCNTs. When one observes an absorption spectra of semiconducting SWCNTs, the two bandgaps have distinct regions of absorption, the S_{11} lying in the region of ~800 – 1900 nm and the S_{22} region lying between ~ 500 – 1200 nm. When conducting a fluorescence study, excitation is achieved over the S₂₂ bandgap while emission is seen over the S₁₁ bandgap. During excitation in fluorescence study the path of light brings the excitation light to the center of the sample and the emission then travels from the center of the sample to the wall of the sample and out. During the movement of the emitted light from the center of the sample till it is out of the sample a portion of the emitted light is reabsorbed by SWCNTs that are in solution but not excited by the excitation light. This event is confirmed though absorption spectra as it can be observed that there is absorption peaks in the region of the S_{11} bandgap where emission takes place. Since there is evidence that SWCNT fluorescence quantum yields are dependent on (n,m) structure and typically on the order of 0.1 - 10% in aqueous suspensions,²⁶ in order to accurately determine the (n,m) of a sample of SWCNTs the maximum amount of emission is needed to reach the detector.

A second issue with classic fluorescence studies is the source of excitation. The use of a tungsten lamp allows for a large array of wavelengths to be used as an excitation

22

source, but at the same time, the radiative power of the excitation light is non-uniform across a broad range of wavelengths, for instance from 300 to 900 nm. Additionally the excitation energy is typically spread over a larger surface area. These are unfavorable circumstances when studying SWCNTs because they affect the ability of the excitation source to adequately excite all the SWCNTs in solution.

2.2 Modifying the classic fluorimeter for SWCNTs

The first fluorescence instrument developed specifically for the spectrofluorimetric analysis of SWCNTs was by Rocha et al. from Rice University.⁴⁰ Their instrument was designed to replace the classic fluorimeter when studying SWCNTs. To optimize the new instrument for SWCNTs studies several changes were made to the classic fluorimeter mainly in the cases of path of light and excitation source (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3 – Spectrofluorimetric analysis instrument designed at Rice University. Utilizes inline excitation and emission to reduce reabsorbance in SWCNTs and single wavelength light sources.⁴⁰

First the path of light was altered. To reduce sample emission reabsorption concerns, the path of light was changed so that excitation light no longer had to travel to the center of the sample and the emission light would not have to travel the same distance through the sample. Similar to the design of a confocal microscope system, the excitation light was brought in-line with the emitted light, to achieve a 0 degree angle, through the use of a dichroic mirror. Reflected excitation light is filtered out of the emitted light with the dichroic mirror. The dichroic mirror acts a long pass filter for the excited light, reflecting the visible excitation light onto the sample and allowing the emitted infrared light to pass through. A new focal point was achieved through the use of an aspheric lens. The aspheric lens not only moved the focal point of the excitation light closer to the surface of the sample but it also collimated the emitted light as it leaves the sample. This design minimizes the inner filter effect by reducing the path that the emitted light must travel through the sample. Emitted light then enters a near infrared spectrometer where the emission spectrum is formed.

The next change made by Rocha et al.⁴⁰ was to the excitation source. Knowing that the use of a tungsten lamp will have a reduced power at each of the wavelengths desired when isolated coupled with the low SWCNT emission quantum yields, the goal was to use a light source that had a higher power and did not require the light to be split. The solution to this issue was found in the use of lasers. Lasers offered a higher excitation power for each chosen wavelength and eliminate the need to use an excitation monochromator in the initial light path.



Figure 2.4 - 2D fluorescence illustrating the use of 4 lasers at 561, 640, 660, and 730 nm have the ability to excited >30 different species of SWCNTs.⁶

In order to use a laser as a source of excitation it must be able to excite a large array of (n,m) SWCNT types. The use of a laser can be confirmed by studying a 2D fluorescence spectral map of excitation vs. emission (EEM) for a sample of SWCNTs (Figure 2.4). Considering the EEM it was observed that for a cross-section at a given excitation wavelength overlapping of the emission of different (n,m) species occurs. It can be seen that a single laser has the ability to excite several different (n,m) in a sample (Figure 2.4). Several lasers can be used in series to excite the full dispersion of (n,m) types in a sample of SWCNTs. The use of 4 lasers in series has the ability to excite around 25 different (n,m) species.

This system design by Rocha et al.⁴⁰ allows for further modifications to the set of spectroscopic characterization methods to be added, such as Raman or UV-Vis-NIR absorption. With the laser excitation, an additional visible light detector (like a Si-CCD), and slight light path modifications, Raman spectroscopy can be observed. Absorbance can be taken for a sample of SWCNTs by adding a white light source and a visible light

detector. These modifications would allow a single instrument to be utilized for all optical spectroscopy for SWCNTs.

The specific reaction quenching rates for SWCNT (n,m) types resulting from either covalent or noncovalent interactions are still unknown and speculated to be very fast, possibly in the picosecond time scale. However, the initial system optimized for SWCNT fluorescence is not suitable for these real time reaction kinetic studies since it utilizes a detector only capable of millisecond timescale data acquisition. But, given that SWCNT emission in the near-infrared is weak due to low quantum yields, the changes made to the classic fluorimeter allow for the fluorescence spectrum of SWCNTs to be detected with higher sensitivity.

2.3 New instrument

To study the kinetics of functionalization of SWCNTs the J. Rocha, S. Bachilo, S. Ghosh et al. spectrometer was used as a basis for our setup as it deals with the issue of excitation source and the inner filter effect. Further changes to the Rocha et al. spectrometer are made so that we can detect the kinetics of a single (n,m) SWCNT in solution (Figure 2.5).


Figure 2.5 – Design of new instrument with modifications to the light source and path of light to allow for minimization of the inner filter effect and single wavelength excitation.

The first addition that is made is a series of bandpass filters in the path of the emitted light before it reaches the detector. Bandpass filters allow for the emission from a single (n,m) to be isolated from the emitted light from a polydispersed sample. Since the (6,5) SWCNT S₁₁ bandgap is at 975 nm, kinetic studies on the (6,5) SWCNT will use a bandgap filter with a center wavelength of 980 nm and a full with half maximum (FWHM) of 10 nm. By changing the filter in front of the detector, studies can be done for different species of SWCNTs in a sample.

A sample holder was fabricated so that a 10 mm \times 10 mm cuvette and a 10 mm \times 2 mm cuvette can be held (Figure 2.6). The sample holder also houses the aspheric lens to the surface of the cuvette to allow for the focal length of the lens to be placed directly on the surface. The aspheric lens has a focal length of 4 mm and acts to collimate the emitted light as it leaves the sample holder. The first sample holder was constructed out of 1/4" aluminum and drilled with 8-32 tapped holes to allow for the sample holder to be deconstructed and rearranged for future adaptations of the instrument. Two of the sides of the sample holder have windows to mount the aspheric lens. One window was drilled with a size M hole and tapped with a M8-0.5 tap and the other was drilled with a size O hole and tapped with a M9-0.5 tap.



Figure 2.6 – On the right is sample holder 1 which was constructed with the ability to be broken down and connected by screws and on the left is sample holder 2 is a permanent holder that is constructed with epoxy.

Problems with the first sample mount arose in the instability of the side walls. Due to the placement of the set screws to hold the mount together to allow for the maximum space for the windows the sample holder was loose due to misaligning parts and shallow tapped holes. In addition to the stability issues the windows were not aligned to future adaptations of the instrument. To correct these issues a second sample holder was constructed. The stability issue was addressed with fast setting epoxy to hold the sample holder together, although this makes it so that the sample holder cannot be rearranged. The second sample holder also featured two windows in alignment to allow for the pass through of light should adsorption be added to the instrument in the future.

Fabrication of a mirror mount was vital for the ability of the mirror to be in close proximity to the sample holder while still acting as a long pass filter for the emitted light (Figure 2.7). The first mirror mount was designed to hold the mirror between two pieces of aluminum. The first piece of aluminum is ¹/₄" aluminum with a 1/8" channel milled to hold the mirror from sliding left to right will allowing the mirror to slide into place from the top. The second piece of aluminum is 1/16" and holds the mirror from falling out of the first piece of aluminum. Problems came when milling in the 1/8in channel. With the first piece being only ¹/₄" there was little room to mill the channel to hold the mirror and drill holes so the mount can sit on an optical post.



Figure 2.7 – Mirror mount 1 which held the mirror between two pieces of aluminum, Mirror mount 2 which cut and mounted mirror onto an optical post with epoxy, Mirror mount 3 which used a larger mirror and reduced the space between mirror and sample holder.

A second mirror mount was fabricated by cutting the mirror to a ¹/4" x ¹/4" square. This was then mounted into a block of aluminum with a 1/8" groove to allow for the mirror to be mounted with fast setting epoxy. This mirror mount was insufficient because the small piece of aluminum that hung in front of the mirror inhibited the mirror from coming close to the sample holder. The second mount also allowed for excitation light to pass around the mirror. A third mirror mount was fabricated in a similar fashion to the second mirror mount with no overhanging aluminum in front of the mirror and a larger $\frac{1}{2}$ " x 1" mirror to minimize the amount of light passing over and around the mirror.

Further modification to the instrumental setup comes in the form of changes made to the detector and data acquisition setup. In the Rice setup 40 emission is dispersed by a near-IR spectrometer with multi-channels. This setup is optimal for the determination of (n,m) in a sample but not ideal for kinetic studies because it slows down the instrument and does not capture the most amount of emitted light as possible. Modification to the detector and data acquisition starts with the single element detector. The use of fast rising detectors is needed for studying SWCNT kinetics because the reactions happen on the sub-millisecond time scale so a detector needs to be fast enough to be able to catch the small fast changes in the intensity of light. To do this, two different types of detectors will be used: one based on silicon with a detection range of 400 - 1100 nm, and the other based on indium gallium arsenide (InGaAs) with a detection range between 800 – 1700 nm. Two different Si detectors, with rise times of 14 and 43 ns, will be tested. The silicon detectors are ideal for studies with the (6,5) SWCNT type because the detectors peak detection efficiency is at ~1000 nm. Along with the silicon detectors, 3 different InGaAs detectors with rise times of 10, 6, and <1 ns are to be used. The InGaAs detectors will allow for studies to be conducted of all typical semiconducting species of SWCNTs.⁹ Due to the fast rise times of the InGaAs detectors, kinetic studies occurring as fast as the picosecond time scale may be observed.

When trying to collect fast real-time kinetics of SWCNTs, a fast data acquisition system is needed in relation to the fast detector. A fast data acquisition system will allow the instrument to measure the intensity of the fluorescence at a sample rate fast enough to

capture the quenching of the SWCNT fluorescence as the SWCNT is functionalized. The detector chosen to the modification to a kinetic analysis instrument was an Agilent U1071A Acqiris. The Agilent U1071A Acqiris has a sampling rate of up to 2 GS/s, and can be programed using LabVIEW.

LabVIEW is a graphical programing software environment offered by National Instruments that allows for custom program to be written for different application. Through the LabVIEW software a virtual instrument (VI) was setup to allow for test parameters to be set for each trial (Appendix A1). In LabVIEW, parameters such as sample rate, sample size, trigger slope, trigger level, and trigger delay can all be modified so that each trail is optimized. Incorporated into the LabVIEW VI for the data acquisition are the controls for the four different lasers that will be utilized. Whenever using lasers safety is the utmost concern, so fails were written into the program so that users have full control of the laser. The first of the controls for safety are a two switch activation system where each laser has an enable and start switch. The enable switch powers the laser without emission. This allows for the laser system to stabilize before light is emitted. Only when the laser is enabled will the start switch cause activation of the excitation light. The laser system is on a for loop outside of the data acquisition VI that is not limited by a number of iterations, this means that after the VI is done with the data acquisition the controls for the laser are still active and the laser can safely be turned off. (Figure 2.8)



Figure 2.8 – Front panel of LabVIEW software for fluorimeter.

Lasers were purchased from Toptica Photonics in a multi laser engine (iChrome MLE) that emits all four lasers from a single fiber optic output with no overlapping of wavelengths. Wavelengths chosen were 561, 640, 658 and 730 nm. These wavelengths will provide the widest array of SWCNTs fluorescence. Initial tests was conducted using the561 nm laser. The 561 nm laser excites the (6,5) SWCNT that has a E_{22} bandgap of 566 nm that comprises 40 % of the SWCNT species in the sample.

Initial tests of the new system were completed with the use of laser dyes LDS 950 and IR 430 purchased from Exciton. LDS 950 has an absorbance range of 464 to 804 nm with an absorbance max of 612 nm and an emission range of 928 to 1084 nm with a emission max of 980 nm. IR 143 has an absorbance range of 488 nm to 915 nm with an absorbance max of 840 nm and an emission range of 913 nm to 1020 nm with an emission max of 960 nm. With these dyes we are able to monitor the amount of emission from a control to show that the path of light from excitation to emission was correct, and in addition, we verified that the LabVIEW VI is accurately controlling the laser and the data acquisition card to monitor the dye fluorescence emission in real-time.

Initial runs on of the system showed a poor signal to noise ratio. When building the array of data points, the signal is lost in the noise and measures need to be taken to adjust for such a problem.

Methods for signal to noise correction can come in two forms; a software correction or a hardware correction. Software corrections are most commonly done through the averaging of several data points. For example, several scans are run and the average of each data point is taken, and then the resulting average spectrum is reported. Software correction can also be achieved through a Fourier Transform that separates the real and imaginary functions of a time oscillation to produce a data spectrum, this too is best done after several scans to decrease noise. Because measurements of SWCNT reaction kinetics will be a single scan method software corrections are not applicable.

One form of hardware correction comes in the form of operational amplifiers. Such electronic units have the ability to reduce the amount of noise by increasing the strength of the signal while keeping noise constant. Another form of improvement to the signal to noise comes in the form of a thermoelectrically cooled detector. Both of these methods were looked at for this system, so we purchased from Thorlabs an InGaAs Amplified Photodetector with Thermoelectric Cooler (PDA10DT). This detector has a bandwidth switch over the ranges 500 Hz – 1 MHz and a gain switch that ranges from 0 – 70 db. The thermoelectric cooler can hold the temperature to -10 °C. Since the detector operates in the near-infrared region of the electromagnetic spectrum, radiative temperatures from the ambient environment and sometimes even electronics can induce

significantly detectable 'dark' noise. By cooling the detector, this 'dark' noise is minimized. The use of the gain will allow for amplification of the signal but has an adverse effect in that it slows down the speed of the detector. The use of the gain will allow for a stronger reading but will not allow for the possible picosecond kinetics to be detected.

Using the thermoelectrically cooled InGaAs amplified photodetector, fluorescence was observed in the LDS 950 laser dye in a 90° configuration using the 640 nm laser. In the set up for the 90° configuration the dichroic mirror and aspheric lens were removed to attempt to isolate the loss of the emitted light. When the mirror and lens are reintroduced into the system and the configuration is returned to the inline setup, then the emission is lost again.

Two possible problems that could result in the loss of emission lie in the angle of the dichroic mirror and the possibility of the aspheric lens being mounted on an angle in the sample holder. If the mirror is not in a position that will allow the excitation light to enter the sample holder perpendicular to the sample holder the focal point through the aspheric lens will be shifted to the side, this will minimize the amount of emission that is collimated as the light leaves the sample holder because the collimated light will be comprised mainly of divergent emission and not the emission from the focal spot. One way that this issue can be corrected is to place two focusing mirrors in the path of excitation. Focusing mirrors will allow for small corrections to be made to the path of light so ensure that the path of excitation light enters perpendicular to the sample holder (Figure 2.9).



Figure 2.9– (top) Effects that a mirror has on path of light illustrating how the focal point can change with the mirror (bottom) Focusing lens can correct for improper placement of dichroic mirror.

If the aspheric lens is not properly mounted inside the sample holder it will not only move the focal point out of the window but it will also change the path of emission so that it is no longer 180° to the excitation path (Figure 2.10). The way to correct for this issue is to either reconstruct the sample holder and tap new holes ensure the aspheric lens are mounted straight into the sample holder. The other possible solution would be to have the sample holder constructed using a CAD system that will ensure proper construction.



Figure 2.10 – Illustration of how a improper placed aspheric lens can alter the focal point of the emission.

Finally, the addition of a focusing lens in the path of emission after the bandgap filter will allow for the more emission to be focused onto the detector. A focusing lens will allow for collection of not only the collimated light but also the divergent light that escapes from the collimation. The detector only has a 0.5 mm active window and the use of a focusing lens will allow for the highest efficiency of the system.

The modifications to the spectrofluorimeter built by Rocha et al. will allow for fast kinetic of SWCNT reactions to be detected. Through the use of the Toptica multi laser engine and fast data acquisition the kinetic of SWCNT reaction will provide information that will allow for better understanding of the interactions that take place in SWCNT separations, and investigation into possible integration of SWCNTs into applications. LabVIEW provided the ability to customize the programing of the instrument to meet the needs of the instrument. Fabrication of a mirror mount and sample holder with mounted aspheric lens allows for an inline excitation/emission setup to minimize the absorbance of emitted light. Although issues arose in the completion of the new instrument, there is promise for a future direction with the solutions previously mentioned. Once fully operational this instrument will prove to be a valuable research tool.

<u>CHAPTER 3 – UNDERSTANDING OF INTERACTIONS LEADING TO</u> <u>SEPARATIONS OF METALLIC AND SEMICONDUCTINGSWCNT</u> <u>DISPERSIONS VIA STEP-GRADIENT GEL CHROMATOGRAPHY</u>

3.1 Introduction

Single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) are nanostructure of carbon that have unique physical and electrical properties making them a topic of interest in many different fields of research ranging from alternative energy, to electrical wires and can be used for their textile strength.^{8, 11} The use of SWCNTs in such applications depends on the ability to isolate different (n,m) structural species from a mixed sample to fully exploit their unique characteristics. SWCNT characteristics depend on variations in the diameter (d) and chiral angle (θ) of the structure, enumerated by the (n,m) designation (See previous discussion in Ch. 1, sec. 2), that allows for different mixing or overlapping of the π -orbitals. These variations result in, among other things, SWCNTs with either metallic or semiconducting properties.⁵ SWCNT production, be it either laser pulse, arc discharge, or chemical deposition such as HiPco or CoMoCATTM, results in a dispersion of different species, 1/3 of which are metallic and 2/3 are semiconducting.⁸ Again, in order to apply SWCNTs to a wide array of electrical uses the (n,m) semiconducting SWCNTs must be separated so that each SWCNT with specific electrical properties (in this case, bandgap energy) can be selected for a given application. There is a need to find a method of separation that has the ability to isolate a single species of SWCNTs from a mixed sample that is simple in both its execution and confirmation of results, as to lead itself to be scaled to an industrial application.

Current methods of separation, such as density gradient ultracentrifugation or gel electrophoresis, although proven for their ability to separate SWCNTs into different

chiralities have fallen short in their ability to be scaled up to industrial quantities.^{41, 42} In other previous work by Hirano et al. and Tvrdy et al., it has been shown that a heterogeneous sample of SWCNTs can be separated to yield a single (*n*,*m*)-type enriched sample through gel chromatography using Sephacryl-S200 agarose (or a similarly structured allyl dextran) gel.^{43, 44} In each study, small amounts of gel are used and several different columns are run in order to isolate all of the different (*n*,*m*) species in a sample. These methods as described, though effective, do not lend themselves to being scaled to an industrial level due to being both time and labor intensive, also including high centrifugation forces (>100,000×g) and sonication powers (>15 W·mL/g).

In the work done by Strano's group at M.I.T., a proposed kinetic model states that different species of SWCNTs have different affinities to the secondary amines on the Sephacryl gel.⁴⁴ Sephacryl is an allyl dextran polymer that is cross-linked with N, N'- methylene bisacrylamide that is traditionally used in biochemistry as a size exclusion gel for the purification of proteins and polysaccharides.⁴⁵ Smaller diameter SWCNTs have a higher affinity to the gel than the larger SWCNTs. When a sample is passed through a 1.6 mL column, the small diameter SWCNTs with the high affinity bind to the gel and the rest of the species pass through the gel. When the concentration of the SDS eluent solution is increased, the small diameter SWCNTs were released from the gel and collected. This was repeated 30 times with the next highest affinity being bound on the next successive column each time.

Silvera-Batista et al. sought to determine the interaction that drives the adsorption of SWCNT to Sephacryl-s200.⁴⁶ Silvera-Batista et al. determined that the affinity of the SWCNT to the gel depends on the amount of SDS that is bound to the surface of the

nanotube. If the separation is size- exclusion driven as the gel is generally used there would be no need to change the mobile phase to elute all the SWCNT from the column. What Silvera-Batista et al. found was to remove the bound SWCNTs, the concentration of the SDS needs to be increased, for instance from 2 wt% to 5 wt% (69 mM and 173 mM, respectively), to break the interaction between the SWCNT and the gel.⁴⁶

Further work from Jain et al. (Strano's group) recently confirmed that the interaction bonding energy of the semiconducting SWCNTs and the gel was a result of: 1) the van der Waals forces that bond a SWCNT to the gel, 2) the electrostatic repulsion that is a result of the anionic surfactant and the secondary amines on the Sephacryl gel, and 3) the hard-surface repulsion of the SWCNT and the gel.⁴⁷ Due to incomplete wrapping of the SDS around the SWCNT surface, the different SWCNTs will have a different affinity to the gel depending on the diameter of the SWCNT.^{48, 49} To release the SWCNTs from the gel, an increase in SDS will increase the repulsion between the SDS/SWCNT micelles and the secondary amines, thus releasing them.

With this information, we devised a method to allow for the separation of the different species in a single column. Knowing that the SWCNTs are bond to the gel, the first goal is to get as many of the sc-SWCNTs in a sample to bind to the column as possible. This will allow for a single column to be used for the separation of semiconducting (n,m) using Sephacryl gel. In previous work, the goal was to only have one species of SWCNT bond to the gel at a time, so small quantities of Sephacryl were used. Adsorption of SWCNTs to the gel is a result of an interaction between the secondary amines on the N, N'-methylene bisacrylamide and the sections of the SWCNTs that are not covered in surfactant. To allow for the greatest number of

SWCNTs to bond there needs to be more bonding sites open allowing the maximum amount of sc-SWCNTs to adsorb to the column. In other studies, a small column of only 1.6 mL of gel are used limiting the amount of SWCNTs that adsorb. To allow for the maximum amount of SWCNT retention a longer column of 30 cm was used by adding 6 mL of gel to the column.

With the most possible sc-SWCNTs bound, next was to remove the SWCNTs one species at a time. It has been shown that in order to remove the bound SWCNTs from the column the surfactant must be changed to one with a higher affinity to the SWCNTs. Sodium cholate is commonly used for this purpose. In the work by Tvrdy et al. it was shown that to remove the bound SWCNTs from the column an increase in the surfactant concentration, to say 5 wt% SDS, has the ability to release the SWCNTs so that the surfactant does not have to be changed.⁴⁴ It was postulated that the concentration of SDS needed to elute the SWCNTs is related to the affinity of the SWCNT to the gel. So larger diameter SWCNTs will elute with a low concentration of SDS while smaller diameter SWCNTs will require a stronger concentration of SDS to elute the SWCNTs.

A new method described here demonstrates that varying the concentration of the mobile phase in a gel-based chromatography column will achieve similar results to those previously found in published literature using more elaborate techniques, such as multicolumn methods needing ultrasonication and ultracentrifugation. This method will also help us understand the differences between the interactions SDS and other surfactants for the purpose of SWCNT separations.

3.2 Experimental Methods

3.2.1 Sample Preparation

10 mg of CoMoCAT SWCNTs (SWeNT SG-65i) was placed in 20 ml of 0.5 wt% SDS (Sigma-Aldrich) and sonicated for 5 hr (~12 W) using a Cole Palmer microtip bell sonicator (1/8" tip). During sonication the sample was placed in a water cooled bath (~ 10 °C) to maintain constant temperature. The sample was then centrifuged in a Hettich Zentrifugen Mikro 200 for 90 min at 18,000 rpm (31,000 × g) to remove any impurities and bundles of unseparated SWCNTs. The top 80% of the samples was decanted from each centrifuge vial and kept while the resulting pellet discarded.

3.2.2 Chromatography

Gel-based chromatography was performed in a 12 mL disposable syringe, 72 mm in length, and a diameter of 16 mm. 6 mL of Sephacryl-S200 (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to the syringe resulting in a column 30 mm in length. 18 mL of 27 mM SDS was passed through the gel to remove the ethanol that is present in the commercial as-received gel. Each SWCNT sample was sonicated for an additional 10 min prior to addition to the column to prevent aggregation before chromatography. 1 mL of sample was added to the sample has adsorbed to the gel, a step gradient from 27–247 mM SDS in 10 mM steps was applied by the addition of 6 mL of solution to the column and collecting the fraction in 6 mL increments before the next SDS solution was added. Unregulated air pressure was applied to the column that resulted in a flow rate of 2 mL/min.

3.2.3 Absorption spectroscopy

Absorption spectra were taken for all fractions using a Perkin-Elmer Lambda 25 spectrophotometer running UV Winlab software. Spectra were taken at 0.5 nm intervals for a range of 350 - 1100 nm at a speed of 960 nm/min. Data was analyzed using Origin data processing software to create a contour map of the absorbance vs surfactant concentration. All spectra were normalized in between the S₁₁ and S₂₂ bandgaps at 780 nm.

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Theory behind separation

For this study, CoMoCAT SWCNTs were selected because of the ability of the CoMoCAT process to produce a sample with a small diameter range and the ability to produce a high concentration of (6,5) SWCNTs. Data shared by the manufacturer indicates the (6,5) to be ~40% of the overall sample.²¹

Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) is responsible for the creation of micelles around individual SWCNTs during sonication, an effort that interferes with the attractive forces in between SWCNTs originally produced in bundles. The hydrophobic tail of the surfactant is what interacts with the SWCNT. This is due to the fact that the SWCNT is a carbonaceous material and is hydrophobic in nature. Previous work done by, Silvera-Batista et al. has shown that the amount of SDS residing on the surface of the SWCNT is dependent on the diameter of the SWCNT and not the chiral angle,⁵⁰ larger diameter SWCNTs have more SDS on the surface of the tube than smaller diameter tubes. The correlation between the amount of SDS on the surface of the nanotube and the diameter of the nanotube results in a change in affinity of the semiconducting SWCNTs to the

Sephacryl gel. Additionally, the presence of too much SDS leads to minimal interactions for the sc-SWCNTs to the gel media, while too little SDS results in irreversible binding. This is important when attempting to separate a heterogeneous sample into isolated samples of specific SWCNT (n,m) types. By increasing the concentration of SDS in the mobile phase, the adsorbed SWCNTs are released from the gel by increasing the amount of repulsion the surfactant applies between the SWCNT and the Sephacryl gel. When the mobile phase is applied as a concentration gradient the different affinities of the semiconducting SWCNTs can be exploited producing (n,m) enriched fractions. *3.3.2 Retention of semiconducting SWCNTs to Sephacryl gel*

First separation of metallic and semiconducting SWCNTs was done so that we can assure that the greatest amount of sc-SWCNTs adsorbed to the column (Figure 3.1), thus allowing for better separation of the semiconducting species as they adsorb to the gel. Smaller diameter SWCNTs with higher affinity will adsorb more strongly to the column while large diameter SWCNTs will adsorb weakly to the column, thus creating a gradient in the column from smaller diameter SWCNT to larger diameter SWCNTs. To achieve the maximum amount of SWCNTs bound to the column three different surfactants were tested to suspend the SWCNTs in solution. SDS was able to elute the metallic SWCNTs as well as any unbound semiconducting SWCNTs with 69 mM SDS while leaving the majority of the semiconducting SWCNTs bound to the column. The sc-SWCNTs were eluted with 173 mM SDS. SWCNTs suspended in SDBS showed no affinity to the column with all of the SWCNTs eluting in 28 mM SDBS. When the SWCNTs are suspended in AOT and separated by gel chromatography, the SWCNTs that eluted with

33 mM AOT, indicating that both metallic and semiconducting SWCNTs were eluted in each fraction. This will inhibit the ability to produce a (n,m) enriched sample as the (n,m) of metallic SWCNTs cannot be determined through column chromatography.



Figure 3.1 – Absorbance data of separation of metallic enriched fraction from semiconducting enriched fraction SWCNTs. Data was normalized at 780 nm as there is no overlapping of E_{22} and E_{11} energy gaps. A) Separation by SDS B) Separation by AOT C) Separation by SDBS

When applying a gradient of the eluting surfactant to a column with

semiconducting SWCNTs adsorbed to the gel it was observed that the large diameter tubes elute from the column before the smaller diameter tubes. This is most likely a result of the moderated interactions between the secondary amines on the Sephacryl gel and the SWCNTs with large amounts of SDS on the surface compared to SWCNTs with small amounts of SDS on the surface. To release the SWCNT from the gel a concentration of SDS must be used that will increase the repulsion of the SWCNT and the gel. Large diameter SWCNTs have more SDS on the surface due to the fact that the larger diameter allows for more conformational arrangements of the SDS on the SWCNT. On larger diameter SWCNTs the SDS can lay parallel or anti-parallel to the SWCNT. SDS on smaller diameter SWCNTs lay in a parallel formation. Larger diameter tubes have less strain on the SDS when wrapping around the SWCNT anti-parallel resulting in more aggregation of gel to the surface.^{49, 51}

Enrichment of a single species can be archived by using a gradient as will be discussed in section 3.3.2 with SDS as the mobile phase. To enrich a (n,m) species one would use a concentration of surfactant directly below the concentration that will release the SWCNT of interest, this will elute all of the SWCNTs not of interest into a single fraction. The next step in the gradient will elute the SWCNT of interest. When this method was applied to elute a fraction enriched in (6,5), 127 mM SDS was used to elute the (n,m) not of interest and 137 mM was used to elute a fraction enriched in (6,5).

3.3.3 Separation by SDS gradient

Metallic SWCNTs, which have no affinity to the Sephacryl gel, can be seen in the first two fractions as they elute with no changes to the surfactant. Along with the enriched metallic peaks, absorbance can be seen in the regions of the S_{11} and S_{22} of the spectra. This is due to the large broadening of the absorbance peaks that result from an overlap of peaks. We believe this is a result of unbound tubes that have not adsorbed to the surface of the gel along with small bundles of SWCNTs that remained in solution after centrifugation.

When monitoring the major peaks of the elute from the column we can see that the first SWCNTs to elute from the column are a mixture of the (7,5) and the (7,6) eluting from the column after the metallic SWCNTs from a range of 27 mM to 47mM. (Figure 3.2) Next to elute from the column was the (7,3) eluting in only a single fraction at a concentration of 97 mM. After the (7,3), the (6,5) elutes in a range of 107 - 200 mM with a maximum amount at 137 mM. The peak for (6,5) is observed with an absorbance maximum at 980 nm result in the highest intensity of peaks as it is the most abundant species of SWCNTs in the column with 40% of the initial material being (6,5). We see one more main peak elute from the column from a range of 127 - 157 mM from (6,4) SWCNT. After a concentration of 187 mM of SDS is reached, no more significant peaks were observed. As no separation method has been able to produce a sample of a single (n,m) SWCNT species, no absorption extinction coefficients have been reported. With a lack of extinction coefficients we have no understanding of the role concentration plays on the intensity of the absorbance peak. Upon inspection of the column after the completion of the gradient, several SWCNTs remain bound to the column. These are believed to be irreversibly bound tubes and impurities that remained in solution after centrifugation. At this point we do not have an understanding of what species of SWCNT become irreversibly bound to the column.



Figure 3.2 – Concentration of SDS vs Absorbance from SDS gradient showing separation of different (n,m) as the concentration of SDS increases. Separation can been seen between different (n,m) by diameter with smaller diameter SWCNTs eluting first, followed by larger diameter SWCNTs.

To demonstrate the ability to isolate a single species of SWCNTs by using a step gradient, an isolation of the (6,5) was done. First a concentration of 27 mM SDS was used to remove all of the metallic SWCNTs and unbound semiconducting SWCNTs from the sample. To remove all of the SWCNTS with diameters larger than (6,5), a concentration of 127 mM SDS was used. To accurately recover the (6,5) species from the column, a concentration of 137 mM SDS was used. This was selected because our data (Figure 3.3) indicates that a neighboring peak due to the (6,4) SWCNT type has enhanced absorbance following elution with an SDS concentration of 147 mM.



Figure 3.3 – Absorption spectra of fractions eluted with 27 mM, 127 mM, 137 mM, and 147 mM showing increased abundance of different (n,m).

Grouping of (n,m) species was observed in each step of the gradient, grouping is a result of SWCNTs with similar affinity eluting in the SDS concentrations between the gradient steps. This is prevalent when observing the absorbance spectra of the eluted SWCNTs at concentrations of 137 mM and 147 mM. We can see that the (6,4) peak overlaps with the eluting concentration with the (6,5).

3.3.4 Peak analysis of SDS fractions

Because of the small diameter range of SWCNTs in the sample many of the absorbance peaks overlap making separation analysis more difficult. In order to analyze the relative abundance of different species in the overlapping peaks, a method of peak fitting was utilized. This method is adequate at providing relative abundance on relation to the overall peak area of the overlapping peaks.

Assuming that all of the SWCNT (n,m) types have a similar extinction coefficient, integration of the peaks can show relative abundance of each species in a sample as the gradient moves from low concentration of SDS to a higher concentration of SDS. What was observed was the peaks of larger diameter SWCNTs are first prevalent with low

concentrations of SDS while smaller diameter SWCNTs are not present until higher concentrations of SDS.

Peak analysis was conducted by fitting Voigt functions (Equation 3.1) to the different species of SWCNTs. Using information provided in the SWCNT datasheet by the producer, SWeNT (SG65i Lot# SG65i-L39), and prior published literature⁹, the abundant species are; (10,2), (8,1), (7,5), (7,3), (6,5), (8,3), (9,1), (6,4), and (5,4).

$$y = y_{0} + A \cdot \frac{2 \ln 2}{\pi^{3/2}} \frac{w_{L}}{w_{G}^{2}} \cdot \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-t^{2}}}{\left(\sqrt{\ln 2} \frac{w_{L}}{w_{G}}\right)^{2} + \left(\sqrt{4 \ln 2} \frac{x - x_{c}}{w_{G}} - t\right)^{2}} dt$$

$$y = y_{0} + \frac{A e^{\frac{-4 \ln(2)(x - x_{c})^{2}}{w^{2}}}}{w\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{4 \ln(2)}}}$$
(3.1)
(3.2)

$$y = y_0 + \frac{2A}{\pi} \frac{w}{4(x - x_c)^2 + w^2}$$
(3.3)

Voigt functions are a combination of Gaussian (Eqn 3.2) and Lorentzian (Eqn 3.3). The Lorentzian portion represents the natural line broadening due to excitation lifetimes while the Gaussian lineshape arises from inhomogeneous broadening resulting from the sample being a mixture with different (n,m) species and differing extents of SWCNT defects or imperfections.⁵²

As with most simulated peak fittings, bounds were put in place so that results did not violate photophysical properties. The area, A, was set to be greater than or equal to zero so that no peak would have a negative area, the width of the Gaussian (w_G) and Lorentzian (w_L) components of the Voigt function were limited to 250 cm⁻¹ so that it would not result in overly wide peaks that are uncharacteristic for SWCNTs.^{22, 38, 53} The primary peak center positions, x_c , were set initially at the E₁₁ transition frequencies (in cm⁻¹) and allowed to move ± 10 cm⁻¹ for the set of SWCNT (*n*,*m*) species potentially present and observable in the range of 9100 cm⁻¹ to 12,500 cm⁻¹ (1100 – 800 nm) (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4 – Representative absorbance spectrum with simulated spectral data for fractions eluted with 127 mM SDS.

Results from the peak fitting indicate that the (7,5) (Figure 3.5)SWCNT elutes in the first fraction with the 127 mM SDS resulting in $32.1 \pm 0.1\%$ abundance. When concentration of SDS was increased to 137 mM the (7,5) area was decreased to $18.5 \pm$ 1.6% and dropped further to $17.1 \pm 1.2\%$ when the SDS was increased again to 147 mM. This trend can be seen with other large diameter SWCNTs in the sample, the (10,2) decreased from $5.1 \pm 0.4\%$ to $2.5 \pm 0.7\%$ and the (9,1) and (8,1) dropped from $11.5 \pm$ 0.1% to $6.3 \pm 0.1\%$ and $3.4 \pm 1.1\%$ to $0.3 \pm 0.1\%$, respectively. Errors are based off the standard deviation of 4 peak fittings on a single spectral dataset.

Peak fitting indicates that the 137 mM SDS solution eluted more of the (6,5) SWCNT than the 127 mM solution, as the abundance changed from $1.4 \pm 0.1\%$ to $23.3 \pm 1.2\%$ and then decrease to $20.9 \pm 0.8\%$ when the 147 mM SDS was used. Peak fitting shows that the (6,4) elutes better with the 147 mM the abundance is $18.4 \pm 0.1\%$, it was previously $5.6 \pm 0.1\%$ and $12.3 \pm 0.2\%$ in the 127 mM and 137 mM respectively and the column as the ability to produce enriched samples even when the eluting of two different (n,m) are close in eluting concentrations.



Figure 3.5 – Summary of peak fitting of the fractions with SDS gradient

3.3.5 Separation by SDBS gradient

We compared the effects of the mobile phase by using a different solvent to elute the SWCNTs. The use of a different surfactant provides the potential to reduce the overall cost of the separation as well as improve the recovery of SWCNTs that might have remained adsorbed to the gel with SDS as the eluent. Sodium dodecylbenzenesulfonate (SDBS) was chosen because it has the same chemical structure as SDS with the addition of a benzene ring. Also earlier literature states that SDBS has the highest ability to separate the SWCNTs from the bundles at low concentrations.²²

A gradient of SDBS (Figure 3.6) was created from 0.25 wt% to 6 wt% in intervals of 0.25 wt%. The 0.5 mg/mL sample in 0.5 wt% SDS was used to observe the competition between the SDS and the SDBS. 0.5 wt% SDS was used first to elute the

metallic SWCNTs and then the gradient of SDBS was applied to elute the semiconducting SWCNTs.



Figure 3.6 – Illustration of absorbance data for SDBS based gradient elution.

It was observed that most of the SWCNTs that were added to the column remained on the column after the gradient elution was finished. This was confirmed through absorbance data of each fraction of the gradient that showed small amounts of SWCNTs in each fraction with no distinction between different SWCNT species.

3.3.6 Separation by AOT gradient

The third surfactant tested was dioctyl sodium sulfosuccinate (AOT) (Figure 3.7). AOT is a surfactant that is most commonly used in reverse micelle encapsulation. This means that instead of encapsulating the hydrophobic material in the center of the micelle with the water on the outside, the water is trapped in the center of the micelle. This exposes the hydrophobic tails to the SWCNTs which allow them to be more accessible for interactions with the gel. It has been showed by Strano et al. that the interaction between the SWCNT and the surfactant is between the hydrophobic tail and the SWCNT. This is due to the fact that the SWCNT is a carbonaceous material and is hydrophobic in nature. AOT differs greatly from SDS in that the twelve carbon tail in SDS is split into 2 tails in AOT, each tail having an ester before it reaches the sulfur head, allowing for better binding to the SWCNT.



Dioctyl sulfosuccinate sodium (AOT)

Figure 3.7 – Representation of the AOT structure.

This reverse micelle arrangement of the AOT in solution allows for more interaction between the AOT and the SWCNT than is seen with the SDS. Running a column with SDS it is believed that the increase in concentration releases the SWCNTs because the SDS will interfere with the secondary amines on the Sephacryl, releasing the SWCNT. In order for SDS to interact with the SWCNT the micelle must be broken open to allow for the hydrophobic tails to interact with the SWCNT The interaction between the AOT and SWCNT is favorable because the hydrophobic tails are on the outside of the micelle. Because the relationship is believed to be a dynamic one where surfactant is continuously being added and removed from the SWCNT, the presence of AOT pushes the relationship in favor of the surfactant being on the SWCNT. This can be seen in a gradient column.

When a gradient was run from 0.33 mM to 7.99 mM it was observed that the majority of SWCNTs elute from the column at low concentrations. This can be seen when looking at the non-normalized map of AOT concentration vs absorbance (Figure 3.8, A). It is observed that after 0.99 mM very few SWCNTs elute from the column.

The map normalized at 780 nm of AOT concentration vs. absorbance (Figure 3.8, B) shows that at higher concentration of AOT small amount of smaller diameter SWCNTs elute from the column. At concentrations of 6mM and higher, smaller diameter SWCNT such as the (6,5) and (6,4) elute from the column but do so in very low concentrations. Between concentrations of 2 mM and 6 mM it was observed that there is a shift in the SWCNTs released from the gel. The absorbance pattern observed was similar to that seen when the column was run with SDS as the mobile phase.



Figure 3.8 – A) Non-normalized illustration of absorbance data for AOT based gradient elution, B) normalized illustration of absorbance data for AOT based gradient elution.

To confirm that a shift in the SWCNTs released from the gel has occurred a column was run using 0.5 wt% SDS to elute the metallic SWCNTs from the column then 0.66 mM AOT to elute the first fraction of SWCNTs followed by 9 mM AOT to elute the rest of the SWCNTs (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.9 – Comparison of fractions collected from AOT gradient elution. The typical m-SWCNT fraction collected is also show for further comparison.

3.3.7 Peak analysis of AOT fractions

The resulting fractions show that a higher percentage larger diameter SWCNTs eluted from the column first. SWCNTs that preferentially elute in this fraction are the (7,5), (7,3), (9,1), (10,2) and (8,1) giving the fraction a blue-purple color. The second fraction, gray in color showed peaks for the (6,5), (6,4), (5,4), and (8,3), and this was confirmed with peak fitting and is shown in Figure 3.10.



Figure 3.10 – A) Fractions after AOT separation, from left to right, fraction 1 eluted with 17mM SDS, fraction 2 eluted with 0.66 mM AOT and fraction 3 eluted with 9 mM AOT, B) integrated percentages of SWCNT (n,m) species in AOT gradient fractions.

From the peak fitting, the relative abundance of large diameter SWCNTs such as the (7,5) can be seen changing from 31.8 ± 1.9 % to 14.5 ± 1.5 % and the (10,2) can be seen changing from 5.0 ± 0.6 % to 1.4 ± 0.3 % (Figure 3.10). While smaller diameter SWCNTs such as the (6,5) and the (6,4) change from 11.4 ± 4.0 % to 28.5 ± 1.1 % and 7.5 ± 0.1 % to 14.2 ± 0.1 % respectively.

There is no trend when comparing the area %s to the chiral angle or E_{11} bandgap, but there was a correlation with the diameter of SWCNTs. (Appendix A2.). The (7,3) SWCNT does not follow the trend of larger diameter SWCNTs eluting before smaller diameter SWCNTs as it can be seen that the abundance dropped from $27.9 \pm 2.9\%$ to $23.5 \pm 2.1\%$ with error that would allow for equal abundance of (7,3) in each fraction. This differs from the observed trend in that the (7,3) has a diameter of 0.706 nm and a chiral angle of 17°. Due to the small diameter it was expected that the (7,3) would elute in the second fraction but it was observed to elute with the first fraction at a high abundance.



Figure 3.11- Total Semiconducting SWCNTs recovered by SDS and AOT through column chromatography using Sephacryl-S200.

AOT has shown to be able to produce enriched (n,m) fractions in a similar fashion as SDS. Using a mass absorptivity value of 0.043 L mg⁻¹ cm⁻¹ excepted by literature at a wavelength of 763 nm the total amount of semiconducting SWCNTs recovered was able to be calculated for SDS and AOT to be 0.35 mg / 20 mL (Figure 3.11).⁴⁰ Because of the ability of AOT to recover the same amount of semiconducting SWCNTs as the SDS it is favorable as a surfactant for separation because of the reduction of overall cost needed to separate the SWCNTs. SDS commercially sells for \$314.00 per kg from Sigma Aldrich while AOT sells for \$116.00 per kg. Because lower concentrations of AOT on 9 mM AOT needed to produce the same separation as SDS and the overall cost of AOT being around one third the cost of SDS, AOT is a good chose when trying to produce (*n*,*m*) enriched samples.

3.3.8 Implications of AOT

While these results illustrate a number of important distinctions for the AOT as a positive choice for effective SWCNT separations, understanding the differences between its interactions versus those of SDS and SDBS are still an area of work that needs further exploration. One consideration is the differences in the Gibbs free energies for micelle formation, however, these values are within a few kJ/mol of each other: at 298 K -35, - 32.5, and -33.2 kJ/mol for SDS, SDBS, and AOT, respectively.^{54, 55} This means that for SDBS, it might be expected that free monomers may be more prevalent when compared to the other two surfactants and lead to an ability to remove the SWCNTs from the gel medium. However as reported here, SDBS has not been observed to allow an extensive removal of SWCNTs and the vast majority of material remained adsorbed on the column.

Another consideration is that the separation is kinetically, not thermodynamically constrained. The micellar structural sizes for these three surfactants are very different. SDS has an aggregation number of 60 - 80 at 298 K,⁵⁶ while SDBS and AOT are in the

range of ~20 and ~30, respectively.⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸ It is thus proposed that a tightly bound spherical SDBS structure would have a more difficult time interacting strongly with the SWCNT/SDS micellar structure in the timescale of the direct addition of the SDBS as an eluent solution to the column.

While the AOT provides a similarly sized micelle structure as SDBS when it is isolated, its double-alkyl chains make it suitable to interact more readily with the SWCNT/SDS structures directly. In fact literature supports a positive interaction of AOT in the presence of other surfactants, leading to significantly higher aggregation numbers (> 50) in a mixed micelle environment.^{59, 60} This means that potentially, on the timescale of flowing AOT eluent solution through the column, the AOT micelles break up into monomers or different structures that can coat the SWCNT's directly and thus overcome the binding affinity with the gel medium.

3.4 Conclusions

Separation of semiconducting SWCNTs into samples that are homogeneous for one (*n*,*m*) species of SWCNT are essential for the ability of SWCNTs to be integrated into many different applications. The new method described here demonstrates that varying the concentration of the mobile phase in a gel-based chromatography column will achieve similar results to those previously found in published literature using more elaborate techniques, such as multicolumn methods needing ultrasonication and ultracentrifugation. Lower affinity SWCNTs are weakly bound to the gel medium and only a small increase in the mobile phase concentration is needed to overcome the interactions. This method differs from other published methods as it allows for the creating of an enriched sample through the use of only a single column and can be done

in a rapid method. Notably, for the first time we illustrate the use of surfactants other than SDS in such a process.

The SDS gradient yields an enrichment of (6,5) SWCNTs at a concentration of SDS eluent at ~140 mM. There are important distinctive interactions between SDBS and AOT with the SWCNT/SDS micellar structures that result in significant changes in the ability of either surfactant to yield clean separated sc-SWCNTs. SDBS does not yield an appreciable quantity of separated SWCNTs, and this is believed to result from a slow kinetic exchange or interaction with the SWCNT/SDS structure. Interestingly, the AOT surfactant gradient achieves enriched sc-SWCNT material at very low concentrations (< 1 mM) and leads to an enriched quantity of the (7,5) SWCNT species. This indicates that with further refinements and understanding, one could tune a separation using surfactant and concentration to yield a specific SWCNT (n,m) species.

CHAPTER 4 – CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

4.1 Conclusions

Fluorescence has been shown to be a valuable tool in the study of SWCNTs. However, in order to study the kinetics of SWCNT reactions, modifications to the standard florescence setup must be made to allow for the optimal amount of emission to be collected.

Working from the system designed by Rocha et al.⁴⁰ from Rice University, a portion of this work (Ch. 2) was focused on developing a system that allows for fast kinetic studies to be conducted. Using the LabVIEW programming platform a program controlling the new system was developed allowing for monitoring of the reaction kinetics and the ability to export the data to Origin data processing software. Fabrication of a mirror mount and sample holder allows for the focal point of the florescence to be relocated to the surface of the sample minimizing the re-absorbance of emission. The basic system operation was successfully tested with near-infrared fluorescent dyes, however, efforts to observe discernible near-infrared emission from a standard preparation of SWCNTs proved difficult.

Using the new fluorescence system developed for SWCNT kinetics, studies will be conducted that will answer questions presented in the current and previous separation studies. By understanding the interactions that occur during SWCNT separations, a method can be developed that will allow for industrial separation of the semiconducting SWCNTs to further the use of semiconducting SWCNTs for their electrical properties in future applications.

Separation studies using gel chromatography have shown that metallic SWCNTs can be easily separated from semiconducting SWCNTs on a scalable method because of the high affinity of the semiconducting SWCNTs to the Sephacryl gel, while the metallic SWCNTs have no affinity to the gel.

In a column of Sephacryl gel that allows semiconducting SWCNTs to adhere to the gel, the affinity of the different species of semiconducting SWCNTs can be exploited to better understand the role the surfactants plays in the separation of the samples.

In the primary results of this thesis (Ch. 3), it has been shown that the use of a concentration gradient of SDS, as well as, a previously unused surfactant (AOT) will elute more larger diameter SWCNTs from the column with low concentrations of surfactant while higher concentrations will elute more of the smaller diameter SWCNTs. It has been shown that the surfactant chosen has a direct effect on the ability to elute the sc-SWCNTs.

4.2 Future work

Future work on the near-IR spectrofluorimeter will start with the detection of the emission of a near-IR fluorescing dye in the inline system proposed in this thesis. First the investigation into the use of focusing mirrors will ensure that the excitation path of light will enter the aspheric lens true to the center of the lens, ensuring the focal spot is in the center of the lens so that the emission will be optimally collected by the aspheric lens. Focusing mirrors will allow for acute changes to be made to the excitation path without disrupting the whole system. This will also allow for the angle of the mirror to the sample holder to be greater than 45⁰ allowing for more of the dichroic mirror to be used as a long pass filter ensuring that no excitation light reaches the detector.
Possible refabricating of the sample holder will ensure that the aspheric lens is mounted flush to the cuvette so that the emitted light flows along the same path that the excitation light takes. If the path of the emission is not in line with the excitation path then the dichroic mirror fails as a long pass filter.

After these issues are addressed, a focusing lens will be added in front of the detector to allow for the concentration of the emitted light onto the detecting surface. After confirming the emission of light with the near-IR emitting dye, the fluorescence of an unseparated sample of SWCNTs can be tested.

Once the emission of SWCNTs can be detected several studies can be done using the instrument to help understand the reactions happening in SWCNT separations. By observing the fluorescence quenching as SDS suspended SWCNTs interact with the gel medium we can understand if the interaction is between the SWCNT and the gel through any decrease in the intensity in fluorescence as gel is added into the sample. We can also observe the dynamics of the surfactant on the SWCNT as concentration is increased to understand why some species of SWCNT elute at low concentrations while others do not. Further, we can observe the effect of the addition of a competing surfactant to see if the surfactant being used in the separation is being replaced with the eluting surfactant. To achieve this, fluorescence in SWCNTs suspended in SDS can be monitored as the concentration of AOT is added to the sample.

One future direction for the gradient method of separation of SWCNTs, is to isolate the semiconducting species using a flash chromatography system or an HPLC to test the effect of a true gradient on the ability to elute SWCNTs. The method used in this study was a step gradient that will group different species of SWCNTs together if their

63

affinities are close to one another. Through the use of a true gradient, the separation of SWCNTs that are close to one another can be observed because it will allow for very small changes in concentration and will remove any experimental error in the preparation of the gradient.

After the use of a flash chromatography system or HPLC is conducted, the investigation of the effect different surfactants have on the ability to elute sc-SWCNTs can be investigated. Another surfactant that can be investigated is sodium cholate (SC), a surfactant that has been used in SWCNT separations by density gradient ultracentrifugation because of its ability to interact with semiconducting SWCNTs.²⁵

Additionally, consideration for the kinetic interactions of SDBS, AOT, SC, or increased SDS on the SWCNT/SDS micellar structure could be probed using the spectrofluorimetric kinetic system or in a steady-state fluorimeter. With the expectation of the SWCNT/SDS structures bound to the gel medium resulting in diminished or quenched fluorescence, a baseline emission can be determined. Then the addition of the surfactants can be monitored directly or post addition as the SWCNTs desorb from the gel creating free SWCNT individuals in suspension. In particular, for the SDBS experiment, it may be that allowing the SDBS micelles an extended time to sit in the presence of the SWCNT/SDS-gel medium will lead to an increased amount of free SWCNTs, illustrating the possibility that the SDBS micelles are more tightly bound together and have a difficult time interacting with the SWCNT/SDS.

64

REFERENCES

1. Journet, C. M., W. K.; Bernier, P.; Loiseau, A.; de la Chapelle, M. L.; Lefrant, S.; Deniard, P.; Lee, R.; Fischer, J. E. . *Nature* **1997**, 388, 756-58.

2. Bronikowski, M. J.; Willis, P. A.; Colbert, D. T.; Smith, K. A.; Smalley, R. E. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films* **2001**, 19, (4), 1800.

3. Bachilo, S. M. B., L.; Herrera, J. E.; Pompeo, F.; Resasco, D. E.; Weisman, R. B. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, 125, 11186-87.

4. Weisman, R. B.; Bachilo, S. M. *Nano letters* **2003**, *3*, (9), 1235-1238.

5. White, C. T.; W., M. J. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 52-65.

6. Bachilo, S. M.; Strano, M. S.; Kittrell, C.; Hauge, R. H.; Smalley, R. E.; Weisman, R. B. *Science* **2002**, 298, 2361-2366.

7. Javey, A. ACS nano 2008, 2, (7), 1329-35.

8. Jorio, A.; Dresselhaus, G.; dresselhaus, M. S., *Carbon Nanotubes- advanced topics in the sythesis, structure, properties and applications.* Springer: Berlin, 2008.

9. Weisman, R. B.; Bachilo, S. M. Nano letters 2003, 3, (9), 1235-1238.

10. Strano, M. S.; Doorn, S. K.; Haroz, E. H.; Kittrell, C.; Hauge, R. H.; Smalley, R. E. *Nano letters* **2003**, *3*, 1091-1096.

11. Lu, W.; Arthur, D. J.; Bartelt, N. C.; Berger, C.; Chen, W.; Conrad, E. H. *MRS Bulletin* **2012**, 37, (12), 1125-1135.

12. Bethune, D. S.; Klang, C. H.; De Vries, M. S.; Gorman, G.; Savoy, R.; Vazquez, J.; Beyers, R. *Nature* **1993**, 363, 605-07.

13. Thess, A. L., R.; Nikolaev, P.; Dai, H.; Petit, P.; Robert, J.; Xu, C.; Lee, Y. H.; Kim, S. G.; Rinzler, A. G.; Colbert, D. T.; Scuseria, G. E.; Tomanek, D.; Fischer, J. E.; Smalley, R. E. . *Science* **1996**, 273, 483-87.

14. Yakobson, B. I.; Smalley, R. E. American Scientist 1997, 84, (4), 324-337.

15. Gamaly, G.; Ebbesen, T. W. *physical Review B* **1995**, 52, (3), 2083-2089.

16. Rigaku http://www.rigaku.co.jp/rms_en/application/appli02.html (4/31/2013),

17. Carbon, S. S.; Joselevich, E.; Lieber, C. M. Nano 2002, 2, (1137-41).

18. www.intechopen.com http://www.intechopen.com/books/carbon-nanotubes-synthesis-characterization-applications/processing-carbon-nanotubes (4/31/2013).

19. Nikolaev, P.; Bronikowski, M. J.; Bradley, R. K.; Rohmund, F.; Colbert, D. T.; Smith, K. A.; Smalley, R. E. *Chemical Physics Letters* **1999**, 313, 91-97.

20. Kitiyanan, B.; Alvarez, W. E.; Harwell, J. H.; Resasco, D. E. *Chemical Physics Letters* **2000**, 317, 497-503.

21. Resasco, D. SouthWest NanoTechnologies **2011**, 1-6.

22. O'Connell, M. J.; Bachilo, S. M.; Huffman, C. B.; Moore, V. C.; Strano, M. S.; Haroz, E. H.; Rialon, K. L.; Boul, P. J.; Noon, W. H.; Kittrell, C.; Ma, J.; Hauge, R. H.; Weisman, R. B.; Smalley, R. E. *Science* **2002**, 297, 593-596.

23. www.intechopen.com http://www.intechopen.com/books/carbon-nanotubessynthesis-characterization-applications/processing-carbon-nanotubes (4/31/2013).

24. Liu, H.; Nishide, D.; Tanaka, T.; Kataura, H. *Nature communications* **2011**, 2, 309.

25. Moshammer, K.; Hennrich, F.; Kappes, M. M. *Nano Research* **2009**, *2*, (8), 599-606.

26. Carlson, L. J.; Krauss, T. D. ACCOUNTS OF CHEMICAL RESEARCH 2008, 41, 235-243.

27. Arnold, D. Nat. Nanotech **2006**, 1, 60.

28. Hagen, A.; Hertel, T. *Nano letters* **2003**, *3*, (3), 383-388.

29. Zhang, L.; Jia, Z.; Huang, L.; O'Brien, S.; Yu, Z. J. Phys. Chem. C 2007, 111, (11240-11245).

30. Jiang, J.; Saito, R.; Sato, K.; Park, J.; Samsonidze, G.; Jorio, A.; Dresselhaus, G.; Dresselhaus, M. *Physical Review B* **2007**, 75, (3).

31. Jorio, A.; Saito, R.; Hafner, J.; Lieber, C.; Hunter, M.; McClure, T.; Dresselhaus, G.; Dresselhaus, M. *Physical Review Letters* **2001**, *86*, (6), 1118-1121.

32. Lefebvre, J.; Homma, Y.; Finnie, P. *Physical Review Letters* **2003**, 90, (21).

33. Skoog; Holler; Crouch, *Principles of Instrumental Analysis*. 6th ed.; Thonson: Belmont,CA, 2007.

34. M.S. Dresselhaus; G. Dresselhaus; A. Jorio; A.G. Souza; M.A. Pimenta; Saito, R. *ACCOUNTS OF CHEMICAL RESEARCH* **2002**, 35, 1070.

35. Jost, O.; Gorbunov, A. A.; Pompe, W.; al., e. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1999, 75, 2217.

36. Ohmori, S.; Saito, T.; Tange, M.; Shukla, B.; Okazaki, T.; Yumura, M.; Iijima, S. *J. phys. Chem. C* **2010**, 114, (22), 10077-10081.

37. Cherukuri, T. K.; Tsyboulski, D. A.; BruceWeisman, R. *ACS nano* **2012**, 6, (1), 843–850.

38. Cognet, L.; Tsyboulski, D. A.; Rocha, J. D.; Doyle, C. D.; Tour, J. M.; Weisman, R. B. *Science* **2007**, 316, (5830), 1465-8.

39. Kong, L.; Wang, J.; Fu, X.; Zhong, Y.; Meng, F.; Luo, T.; Liu, J. *Carbon* **2010**, 48, (4), 1262-1270.

40. Rocha, J. D.; Bachilo, S. M.; Ghosh, S.; Arepalli, S.; Weisman, R. B. *Analytical chemistry* **2011**, 83, (19), 7431-7.

41. Nair, N.; Kim, W.-J.; Braatz, R. D.; Strano, M. S. *Langmuir : the ACS journal of surfaces and colloids* **2008**, 24, (5), 1790-95.

42. Tanaka, T.; Jin, H.; Miyata, Y.; Kataura, H. *Applied Physics Express* **2008**, 1, 114001.

43. Hirano, A.; Tanaka, T.; Kataura, H. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2011**, 115, (44), 21723-21729.

44. Tvrdy, K.; Jain, R. M.; Han, R.; Hilmer, A. J.; McNicholas, T. P.; Strano, M. S. *ACS nano* **2013**, *7*, (2), 1779-89.

45. Sciences, G. E. H. L.

http://www.gelifesciences.com/webapp/wcs/stores/servlet/productById/en/GELifeScienc es/17058401 (5/30/2014).

46. Silvera-Batista, C. A.; Scott, D. C.; McLeod, S. M.; Ziegler, K. J. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2011**, 115, (19), 9361-9369.

47. Jain, R. M.; Tvrdy, K.; Han, R.; Ulissi, Z.; Strano, M. S. *ACS nano* **2014**, 8, (4), 3367-3379.

48. Duque, J. G.; Densmore, C. G.; Doorn, S. K. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2010**, 132, (45), 16165-75.

49. Tummala, N. R.; Striolo, A. ACS nano **2009**, 3, (3), 595-602.

50. Fagan, J. A.; Zheng, M.; Rastogi, V.; Simpson, J. R.; Khripin, C. Y.; Batista, C.

A. S.; Walker, A. R. H. ACS nano 2013, 7, (4), 3373-3387.

51. Xu, Z.; Yang, X.; Yang, Z. *Nano letters* **2010**, 10, (3), 985-91.

52. Nair, N.; Usrey, M. L.; Kim, W.-J.; Braatz, R. D.; Strano, M. S. *Analytical chemistry* **2006**, 78, 7689-7696.

53. Tsyboulski, D. A.; Bachilo, S. M.; Weisman, R. B. *Nano letters* **2005**, *5*, (5), 975-979.

54. Hait, S. K.; Majhi, P. R.; Blume, A.; Moulik, S. P. *The journal of physical chemistry*. *B* **2003**, 107, (15), 3650.

55. Chatterjee, a.; Moulik, S. P.; Sanyal, S. K.; Mishra, B. K.; Puri, P. M. *The journal of physical chemistry*. *B* **2001**, 105, (51), 12823.

56. Cheng, D. C. H.; Gulari, E. *journal of colloid and interface science* **1982**, 90, (2), 410.

57. Dey, J.; Bahattacharjee, J.; Hassan, P.; Aswal, V. K.; Das, S.; Ismail, K. *Langmuir* **2010**, 26, (20), 1592-15806.

58. Alargova, R. G.; Kochijashky, I. I.; Sierra, M. L.; Zana, R. *Langmuir* **1998**, 14, 5412.

59. Singh, O. G.; Ismail, K. *Journal of Surfactants and Detergents* **2008**, 11, (2), 89-96.

60. Mahajan, R. K.; Sharma, R. *Journal of colloid and interface science* **2011**, 363, (1), 275.

APPENDIX

A1. LabVIEW code

Laser control



Data acquisition



A2. Plots of SWCNT separations using AOT at two different concentrations, 0.66 mM and 9 mM.



A) Area %s vs diameter, B) Area %s vs chiral angle, C) Area %s vs E₁₁.

A3. SWeNT data sheets – SG65i

	9IN I	SWeNT [©] Freeze Dried Powder Single-Walled Carbon Nanolubes				
RECOUCT NAME:	Single-Walled C	Cattor Nanchube Freeze Dried Powter - SG65, SD85, SG78, CC100.				
	CG2C3, CG300,	, SD:30K				
AKUTACTURES	South West New	p(ermalades in:				
	2501 Technolog Norman, Cirl 75	S01 Technology Place				
	+1 406.217.838	e - Te				
	top/leventure.com					
BORNEY PROFE	1 (Th 410 200)	60.00T				
RODUCT USE:	+1 KTS 410.2885 This metalist has been sourced for specific commencial uses order a US EPA TSCA					
	Consent Order, apart from its non-restricted RSD use. Refer to section 15 for approved permitted uses and impotentiatificions on its use					
POTION 2 CONPOSITION	100 2.000 0.00	An Gal (Writed Matte				
AND FOR THE AVE	we'	OIS Manual Wasarts				
Single-Walled Carl	on Nanotubos	NA 00.00				
Mala I n instantia Anticipe Methods		larger and Called's Versals 1-10				
his material is consi	dered as haranh	how under OSHA regulations,				
Teres investiges and ad	Ational material or	men net lived done size size areas is factor. If young to be sed of the				
ISTIS These scalariais a	nay be light the ins	as "Right-To-Know" compliance and for other recents				
FOTION 3 HAZARDS ID:	D. THE CATE OF					
		A CONTRACTOR OF				
		and the second se				
Carlos A	3 374	HMIS				
Alex /	/					
\sim	10 al	Maxing P				
~						
EMERGENCY OV	ERVIEW: Product	t is a flease-cried poeder. May cause eye, skit and respiratory that				
wat sid	Cista bulkaca s	and makenegical properties of this matched have not been tury				
SD9101: Revision 4		Page I of 8				
hemert loca Data Nos	writer 30, 2011. December 30, 2011.	1				
contractor formers Thereis		na .				
Provinces Scalar Date:						
hevious Issue Dute	27020227,27					
hevitees laste Date						
OSW-NT	NJ.	uferiel Safety Data Shoet/Suda Willot Carbon Nanadar				
CSW-NT	M	aterial Safety Data Sheet/Single Walled Carbon Nanotubes				
SW-NT Representation Prov	Mi Benau	aterial Salety Data Sheet Single Walled Carbon Nanotubes				
SW-NT Researcer Prot There is potential 20 carridges or	Na Remou	aterial Sallety Data Sheeti Sagle Walled Carbon Nasotubes 				
CSW-NT Researcey Prot I tren is potential V Dicardiges or The resignation	Mis Bornaus for introduction of d border.	aferial Salety Data Shoet Saraje Walled Carbos Nasatakes Let, worm in caracteristic war a Lichus NISBI aproved regalation with our companyiation inclusion accountion for the sendates.				
CSW-NT Researcey Peor I term is potential V Ocarridges or The respondent mus Use cardidies mus Use cardidies with th	No across for interview of d botter. The selected factor into course of the COH4, reaching	aferial Sality Dafa Short Single Walled Carbon Notacubes LR. wyoni w cannot over a LD-tax 'NDBi approved register with et an overhandser inst- at Les confliction faurit in the weakes within this disk and single Tax and the confliction of the second se				
CSW-NT Researcey Pro- There is potential VID carridges or The resolution us conditions mus braces with the Heater Managame	No pernave for interview of d botter. I be extended the ro control of the ro control of the ro control of the ro	aterial Suidty Data Sheet Sage Walaci Carbon Nusanbes Data maratak war a Li-Jao NSB apoortingslab with et anomimikation at a constant war and the washes. In anomimikation at the anomimic mark and the market miss according the market mark add the				
SW-NT SW-NT Costentrony Peor d term is potential M 00 carridges on Use conditions mus according with the Haracan Resources Keep away from to	NJ: remain for interview of d botter. I be estected the s coster data is coster aspirate is coster aspirate is	aferial Skildty Onla Skeet Skade Walled Carbon Nasanbea 18. topon in damast war a 12/200 NDB ageost register with et in communication and a size cardina for an all the socialita. Signal Table Skildt ageost in the social size is a size of the social size of the social size of the size of the social size of the social size of the social size of the social size of the social size of the social size of the social size of the social size of the social size of the social size of the social size of the social				
Revenue Save Date	NJ: screau: for interview of d botor. I be selected base of the selected base of the selected base of the selected of the projections and at the selected of the	aterial Suidty Data Sheet Sage Walact Carbon Susanbes Let open in arrest wer a Lifeze NSB apport register with or anomamize the set of a constant with an apport in a constant set of the constant of the set of the merger with be expected in the set of the merger with the set of the set of the set of the merger with the set of the set of the set of the set of the first set of the set of the set of the set of the first set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the first set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the first set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the first set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the first set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the first set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the first set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the				
CSW-NT Researcery Proc I from is potential V 50 contridings on Los opticitation mus Una contriding mus Los contidings mus Los c	No. Retrieve for mine winn of d botter. I be selected base to the control that a CORHA reactings is a CORHA reactings is breaks and a file womanzowa:	aferial Skilety Data Sheet Skape Walket Carbon Nasanbes as, wym ir caranste wers a (2/200 NDB) agoost repitate with ot an optimum blank angol a state or anti one far thin Nasakakan. Angen angen angen angen angen angen angen angen angen angen y pakata angen ang da Data state angen ang				
Researces Peor Besteriors Peor Description Peor Description and Description Control Co	NJ: Ectrony: for mine when of di bottor. I be selected back to bottor. I be selected back to bottor. Selected the back distants, be weag to backs and at the envoid young?	aferial Sufety Data Sheet/Single Valuet Cardon Nasanbes Let apon in carooki ker a Lifeza NOSH apport registar with de combiningtonic neg data constitution fault to worksite. The combiningtonic neg approximation of the constitution of the constitution of the constitution of the constitution of the constitution of the constitution of th				
CSW-NT CSW-NT Researcesy Peor J from is potential M GO carridges or Use condition mus- Use condition mus- condition with P- Hranen Monaux Resource Condition and P- Nonte condition and Provide conditional Condition and Anno- Condition and Anno- Ann	NJ Economic for interview for a bottor. The excitation of a control canonic for control canonic for a control canonic for the control of the encoder of the encoder of the encoder of the encoder of the encoder of the control of the control of the encoder of the control of the control of the encoder of the control of the control of the encoder of the control of the of the control of the control of the control of the control of the of the control of the control of the control of the of the control of the control of the control of the of the control of the control of the control of the control of the of the control of the control of the control of the control of the of the control of the control of the control of the control of the of the control of the control of the control of the control of the of the control of the	Interial Skillety Onto Steers' Single Walled Cardren Nasanbes as, wym manwait wers a (2/as NDB) agorot repeter with ot an optimum ble data godd for the all the validation and an antipath of the angolity of the all the solution of the all the all the all the solution of the all the patients and all the all the all the all the all the solution of the all the all the all the all the solution of the all the low of can. In patients and patients for all the				
Contraction of the second seco	NJ, Echanic Control (Control (Contro) (Control (Contro) (Contro) (Contro) (Contro) (aferial Suitely Data Sheet' Single Walted Carbon Xusanbes use report in caroods our a Lifeton YUSH approximation with one constraintication and use constitution (and use within the constraintication and use constitution (and use within the constraints) and the set of communication of the set in constraints (and constraintication) and the set in constraint (and constraintication) and the set and the set instantic on a set of the set of communication of the set instantic on a set of the set of communication of the set instantic on a set of the set of communication of the set instantic on a set of the set of communication of the set instantic on a set of the set of communication of the set instantic on a set of the set of communication of the set Both set one of the set of the set of communication of the set of the set Both set one of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set set of the set of the s				
Researces Peor SW-NT Researces Peor 4 Dearlines Researces 4 Dearlines Researces 4 Dearlines Internet Los on Others Internet Researce Researces New Second Researces Researce Researces Researces Researces Researces Researces Statistics (Savesses) References Researces Provide and Researces Statistics (Savesses)	Mis Extracute for information of all for any second second in an extreme the second of the second se	aferial Sility Onto Steed Single Walled Carbon Standbes us, wyn ir er metr wer a (2/30 NDE) agrowd repeter with er ogeneration feith ar a cerdina for af in the weeks wyn an ar an ar a cerdina fan ar a cerdina fan ar an ar yn anal an an ar a cerdina fan ar an ar an ar an ar wer hefn filmson ar dy'r APF in (13). wer hefn filmson ar dy'r APF in (13). Werther in (16) ar an 10 k own cerd. Werther in (16) ar ann 10 k own cerd. Werther in (16) ar ann 10 k own cerd. Werther in (16) ar ann 10 k own cerd.				
Researcery Proc J Ineria potential V Do carridges or The expectation potential of the second potential According to the second Office of the second potential Office of the second potential of the second potential of the second potential office of the second potential office of the second potential office of the second potential office of the second potential office of the second potential office o	M/2 Echanic (or Echanical de Echanic Echanical de Echanical CANA reachings is den CANA reachings is den Echanical Echanic	aferial Suitely Data Sheet' Single Walked Cardow Nasanbes we report in served wer a Lifeton YUSH approximation with do conteming the rest are constitution for all workshows in provide a solen (rest of the rest of the rest of the rest of the rest of the rest of the rest of the rest of the rest in the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the rest of the rest of the rest of the interview of the rest of the interview of the rest of the interview of the rest o				
SW-NT Researces Pool of Intent is charted if Origina Chartel if O Corridos mus Use condense with Fi Heresen Management Management Management Conse respondent Conse respondent Statistical Texas Statistical Texas Provide all Texas Openie	No account of provide the second seco	Interial Suitery Data Stoce Single Walked Cardwa Nanotakes LR, wyon, in an wask were Staffang NDB (agrowal register) with det another staffang Staffang NDB (agrowal register) with register and another of DFP (2013) in probability and the staffang NDB (agrowal staffang and offang Staffang) (agrowal staffang NDB (agrowal agrowal staffang NDB (agrowal staffang NDB (agrowal staffang agrowal staffang NDB (agrowal staffang				
Research Parcel SW-NT Research Parcel Threat potential and Costrol Sector Parcel Threat potential and Costrol Sector The sector Parcel Threat Costrol Sector The Sector Parcel Threat Costrol Sector Threat Costrol Sector Threat Sector Parcel Threat Sector Parcel	N/J Echanic For Prinning at discontinue of discontinue of discontent in contexts of the context of discontext of d	aterial Sufary Data Steef Sugle Walled Carbon Nasaubes as, when in carasta were a Lafato NUBL apport register with or construction of the state construction to activity to weak to any other than the state and state of construction to activity on production of the state of				
Notice Sau Des Studients Studients Marchanter Proto Universitätient Marchanter Protocol Universitätient Marchanter Protocol Marchanter Marchant	Na scrook type physical and a boot of the se	aferial Suitey Data Steers Such Walter Carbon Numeries us, wyw m er strater wer a Er/son YOB i sproved respective with el concentrationale instructure of a construction and hit to anticket. Instruction and the second second second second and the second of the second second second second second and the second of the second second second second second second instruction in special second second second second second and second second second second second second second second of the second of the second of the second second second second second second second second of the second se				
Notice Sax Des SW-NT Researcher Proof Themes between Proof The engineering of the source the engineering of the source construction of the source the engineering of the source the engineering of the source the source of the source the source of the source of the Provide Lange of the source of the Provide Lange of the source of the Source Provide State of the source of the source of the Source Provide State of the source of the source of the Source Provide State of the source of the source of the source of the Source Provide State of the source of the source of the source of the Source Provide State of the source of the sourc	No Echanic For information of all booster. Control and management of the second second second all systems and	aferial Skifely Only Steed Supe Walled Carbon Nasanies us, more rearrest were staffan NDB agrowstrepeter with et opportunity in both on opportunity of the staffan opportunity in both on opportunity of the staffan opportunity of the staffan opportunity of the staffan opportunity of the staffan opportunity of the staffan opportunity of the staffan opportunity of the staffan opportunity of the staffan opportunity of the staffan opportunity of the staffan opportunity of the sta				
Notice Sau Des Stur-NT Researces Process Marcines Conferences Process Marcines Conferences Process Marcines Conference (Inter- net Conference (Inter- net Conference (Inter- Researce) Confere	MJ Echanic Groups and American State Sector State State State State In proceeding and the State State In State State State State State In State State State State State State In the Local State State State State In the State State State State State In the Local State State State State In the State State State State State State In the State State State State State State In the State State State State State State State In the State State State State State State State State State In the State Sta	aferial Suitely Units Steed Single Walled Cardee Nanotees us, more meaned ways of Carbon NDB (approved regarded with extension meaned approximation of the constitution of the constitution of constraints and the constitution of the constitution of the constraints of the constitution of the constitution ways and an another (3 CAP) (2013) (3) ways and the constraints of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constraints of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constraints of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constraints of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constraints of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constraints of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constitution of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constitution of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constitution of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constitution of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constitution of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constitution of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constitution of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constitution of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constitution of the constitution of the constitution of the constitution ways and the constitution of the constited of the constitut				
SW-INT Researcher Proc SW-INT Researcher Proc Dimen is generation with carrier processing and the second manual Research Manual Resear	No protection of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of	aferial Skildry Data Steer's Sugle Walled Carbon Nasanbes us, wom in cranistik wer's 12/200 NDBI approved repitation MR del angementation indy and approved from an UNIX workshow angementation and approved in the statistic sector of the statistic sector and approved and approved approved in the statistic approved in the statistic sector a				
Netles Sau Des SW-NT Revenuenter Paros Jerreit in State (Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau Des Sau D	Ma Extracts: the relevant sector of the control of the sector of the control of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the se	aferial Suitey Data Sheer Supe Walket Carbon Nanatubes bet open in annats war S (2.550 NDB) appoint regardler with det openment of the state of the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second appoint and annotation of the second carbon and the second carbon the second carbon the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and second carbon and second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and the second carbon and t				
Network Sau Des SW-NT Bestehender Proce 7 Hennis under state state 7 Hennis under State 7 Hen	Ma contact to relevant of a discourse to relevant of the contact of the contact of the contact of the the contact of the the contact of the contact of the the contact of the contact of the the contact of the contact of the the contact of the contact of the contact of the contact of the contact of the contact of the contact of the contact of the contact of the contact of the contact of the contact of the c	Interial Skildty Data Skeed Sugle Mabel Cardow Nasanbes Lek, wynn reamast wers a (2,5an NDB) agoost respects with charge wynn reamast wers a (2,5an NDB) agoost respects with respective methods wers ago (2,5an NDB) agoost respective with respective methods wers ago (2,5an NDB) agoost respective charge wers ago (2,5an NDB) agoost respective charge wers ago (2,5an NDB) agoost respective respective methods wers ago (2,5an NDB) respective methods wers ago (2,5an NDB)				
An end of the second se	NJ, Echanic Echanica II di Echanica II di Echanica II di Colletti Control Econo Colletti Control Econo II di Economic II di Economic	aterial Safety Data Sheet Sugle Wabel Carbon Nasaniba as, won in caracterize a La Cara Nibili apport register with end contention of the caracterized of carafin be weaked. In the first one of the caracterized of carafin be weaked in the first one of the caracterized of carafin be weaked and the first one of the carafin be weaked of the carafin matching in the carafin of the carafin be weaked of the matching in the carafin be weaked of the carafin be and the carafin be weaked of the carafin be weaked of the second of the carafin be weaked of the carafin be second of the carafin be weaked of the carafin be second of the carafin be weaked of the carafin be second of the carafin be weaked of the carafin be set of the carafin be weaked of the carafin be weaked of the second of the carafin be weaked of the caracterized of the second of the carafin be weaked of the caracterized of the second of the caracterized of the caracterized of the caracterized of the weak of the caracterized of the caracterized of the caracterized of the weak of the caracterized of the caracterized of the caracterized of the weak of the caracterized of the caracterized of the caracterized of the weak of the caracterized of the caracterized of the caracterized of the weak of the caracterized of the weak of the caracterized of the caracte				
Netles Sau Des SW-NT Bestehender Meine Sternen von Sterne Sternen von Sternen Hersen Sternen Hersene Sterne He	No. science. In professional labor in procession of a constant of the science of a constant of the science of a constant of the science of a science and approach with a rate fraction of the science of the science of the science of the science of the science of the science of the science of the	Inferial Sility Data Stoce Sugh Walket Carbon Navankes Inf, wyn ir er metr wer a Labar Nith Lagover engelsen with engelsen in der metrik wer a Labar Nith Lagover engelsen with engelsen in der annen der Kerner in Labar engelsen in der annen der Kerner in Labar engelsen in der annen der Kerner in Labar engelsen in der annen der Kerner Engelsen in der annen der Kerner Engelsen in der annen der Kerner in Labar engelsen in der annen der Kerner Engelsen in der Kerne				
Include Sax Dec SWW-NT Accession of the second se	NJ: Echanic Echanica II di Echanica II di Echanica II di Control Location (Control Location (Control Location II to restore and agreed in to reac and agreed in to reac and agreed in to reaching the second II to reaching the s	aferial Skifely Onio Steed Supe Wabel Carbon Nasantes as, more rearest new staffan NUSI agroed respectivity of optimum rearest for the carbon for all intervention of optimum rearest for the carbon for all intervention of the carbon of all interventions of the carbon for all interventions of the carbon of all interventions for a carbon of all interventions affections				
Recent Lease Deci Networks and the second se	No. Section 4: for the section of a control of the section of a control of the section of the section of the section of	Interial Suitery Data Stoce: Single Walket Candres Navashee List, ayon in an anatomic way Suiter an NDB Lagrows and anatomic way of an anatomic of the state of an anatomic of an anatomic of the state of				
Notice Las Des SW-NT Research of the second	Note: Section (Constraint) (aferial Skifely Only Skeed Supe Walked Carbon Nasanken as, norm in annate were Staffen Nilbil agrowa regeleter with eet openmental were Staffen Nilbil agrowa regeleter in an annate of the Staffen Staffen Nilbil agrowa staffen Staffen Staffen Staffen Staffen staffen Staff				
Netlide Said Des SW-INT Researcher Proc Finnis under State Processing State	No account for the white of discussion for the white of discussion of the control of the control of the control of the control of the former of the control of the solution of the control of the white = = 1.0); the solution of the control of the solution of the control of the control of the control of the solution of the control of the control of the control of the solution of the control of the control of the control of the solution of the control of the control of the control of the solution of the control of the control of the control of the control of the solution of the control of	Aferial Suitey Data Stoce Single Walket Cardees Nanoteke IR, ayon in stratu wer S (L/Las NDI) (growd repeter with of an energy of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of an energy of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the stratus of the				
Notice San Des SNU-NT Research of the second seco	No. Section (or the when of generalized to precedential back (or the when of generalized (or the when of the precedential back (or the when of the precedential section (or the when of the (or the when of the (or the when of the (or the when of the (or the when of the when of the when of the (or the when of the when of the when of the (or the when of the when of the when of the when of the (or the when of the (or the when of	A far fail Skilley Out is Skeet' Single Walkel Canchow Nasanbes Les, topon in stratestic were Satzlagen Niski agrooot expected with of expected on the satzlagen Niski agrooot expected with of expected on the satzlagen Niski agrooot expected with of expected on the satzlagen Niski agrooot expected with of expected on the satzlagen Niski agrooot expected with of expected on the satzlagen Niski agrooot expected with of expected on the satzlagen Niski agrooot expected with the satzlagen Nisk				
Notice Las Dec SW-NT Resonances Proof for a sector proof for a sector proof for a sector proof for a sector proof for a sector proof for a sector	Kj. 2000. 200	Aferial Suitey Data Stoce Supe Walket Cardee Nanotees IR, wyon restructive of 26,000 NDI agrows register with on operating the stoce of				
Noted Lan Dec SW-NT Parasancer Jano Con- Standard Standard Standards Standard Standards Standard Standards Standard Standards Standard Standards Standards Standards Standards Standards Standards S	NJ zornau: tor rick mission id a control of the second second in the second second second is the second second second second to the second second second second second second second second second second second second second secon	A for fail Skillery Dark Sheer's Sugle Walkel Canchow Nasanber Les, syon in cannot were a Calcara Nibili agroom expected with changes and the state of the control in the solubles aground an adversarial of the Tri Bill Skill aground an adversarial of the Skill aground an adversarial of the Skill aground adversarial of the Skill aground adversarial of the Skill aground adversarial of the Skill aground adversarial aground adversarial a				
Notice Sau Des SW-NT Research of the second	h_{ij} is across the product of t	aterial Safety Data Sheet? Such "Wight Corbor Nasanites as, upon in caracterize a La Cara Nilli apport regulation with end contention of the content of curain the weakster. In the content of the content of curain the weakster. In the content of the content of curain the weakster. In the content of the content of curain the south market of content of the content of the curain the content of the curain the content of the curain In the content of the curain the curain the curain In the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain In the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain In the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain In the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain In the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain In the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain In the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain In the curain the curain In the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain the curain In the curain				
Netted San Den: SW-NT Research and services and service	h), h) NERTHAL H <	Antrial Skildy Data Skeet Suge Mabel Carbon Nasanber List, upon rearrants wars a (2/200 NDB) appoint resplayer with concentration index of a (2/200 NDB) appoint resultation appoint and appoint resultation appoint and appoint resultation appoint and appoint resultation appoint appoint resultation appoint appoint resultation appoint resultat				
Nuclea Las Das SW-NT Research of Nort Internet and SW-NT Internet and SW-NT Internet and SW-NT SW-NT Internet And SW-NT	No. 70 Sectors The product of the sector	aterial Safety Data Sheet? Single Wabel Carbon Nasanites as, non- in caracteristic was a La Cara Nibili agoord resplace with or concentration for a successful concentration of social methods and a successful concentration of social methods in a successful concentration of social concentration methods in a successful concentration of social concentration with the social concentration of social concentration of social concentration methods in a successful concentration of social concentration with the social concentration of social concentration of social concentration with the social concentration of social conce				
Notice Lan Deci SW-NT Besteard Proof In Control Proof In	h_{10} is the second	And Fail Shifey Data Sheer's Super Maller's Chown Nasanles Les, upper manade wert a (Lassa NUB) separate transitions Les, upper manade main and a separate transition of a separate transition of the separate transition o				

OSHA HAZAGES:	Intant
GHS LAREL ELEN FILTE	
PICTOS MARKA	٢
SIGNAL WORD	Warning.
HAZARD STATEMEN	ntel
H319	Causes serious age inflation
H\$35	Nay cause respiratory infestion
PREGAUTIONARY ST	wronom(s)
P251	Avois treatiling dushfuma/gas/vapours/spray
P805+P361+P339	If its eyes: Rease associate usits white action for executionized, Rem contract tensors, it present and easy to, Continue disping
POTENTIAL HEALTH HAZ	3 HOS
2004	May taken be maked an
Ema:	May cause by Finance.
tare tok	product presents an intreased inteletion hazard because of the senior particle size. Not a probable multi of accession. This matched may be benefit if teachroad in
	unintentional hiero-to-mouth statistic).
DELAYED EFFECTS:	Note Interve
ingredients found on an	e of the OBHA designated carchogen lists are listed below.
AND DESCRIPTION	NTP STATUS MARC STATUS OSHA LIST ACOUN STATUS
Caset Compound	le Gijoua.2 ⁴ 28 ³ None A3 ⁴
10	
 manufactory anticipated Possibly continuousla m 	te us man an oaronnogans
* Outfinied a titra carel	abgon with uniccown relevance to humans
Section: 4 First Alo M	CATORIS
GENTRAL:	Contaminated dothing should be removed and washed before revised.
Smx:	Wands with sousy and weree, Ger medical allemian if installan develops or paralate.
Eves:	Fluct: eyes with plenty of water for at least 15 min. Gat matical startion 7 into
tang supe:	cevelops of persists. Services to treat air, it are travellated over articles installation. Our marked starting
incestion.	infation develops or particles. If percents considers, does much with water. To not induce sympthetic states of the
	do so by a physiciae. Get medical atention immediately.
ADVICE TO PHYSICIAN:	No specific advice, Ireal symptemetically.
FLASH POINT: SISSEDI Research 1 Carried Sco Date: New	Not appendix. Not appendix. Subury, 3: 0013
FLASH POUT: FLASH POUT: MSDSDI Research 1 Careel Scot Date: Nov Process base Date: Date	Net opplication Net opplication water 21, 2013 only: 22, 2013
FLASH POUT: FLASH POUT: MSDSDI Research 1 Carren Date Date: New Process loss Date: Date	Net specials. Net specials. Page 2 of 8 minut 21,201
Flass Poerr Flass Poerr MSDEDI Roman 1 Carries Izce Date: Nov Previous Intel Date: Date	Nga nga kada ka Nga nga kada ka Luka X, 2013
ELASSE POSITS	Net representations
FLASH POWER	Net reprint a
ELASH POOLS FLASH POOLS MEDICED HARRON 1 Control Jaco Dirit: Nov Previous Jaco Dirita Jaco Dirita Jaco Dirita Jaco Dirita Jaco Dirita Jaco Dirita	Net represente unico X, 2001 Page 2 of 8 Material Sufety Data Shredy Single-Walled Corteen Name
ELANG POINT FLANG POINT MEDELDI RAVENT 1 Carried Bace Dett: Nov Protocol Res Date Dec SW-NT Hazaroaus Polympica Wilnol 2001	Net reprint in under 25, 2007 Page: 2 of 8 National Statety Data Sheed Yanga-Waltat Cartern Name Material Statety Data Sheed Yanga-Waltat Cartern Name
ENANCE FILL CALL FLASS POOL MEDEOF RANKEN 1 Carrent Isco Date: Nov Previous Isco Date: Nov Previous Isco Date: Nov CSW-NT HAZARDILE PELYNFRE WILLIOL COLF. EDBECK 14 DOMARDING	Not topposite who X, M(1) Fage 2 of 8 who X, M(2) Material Sufety Data Sheety Stage-Walled Corteen Neuros Material Sufety Data Sheety Stage-Walled Corteen Neuros Material Sufety Data Sheety Stage Walled Corteen Neuros
Example Field Control State Co	Net representation Net representation Net and States National States N
STATUTE II I CALL CALL FLASS POINT MIDELED HAVEN I ANDREAD HAVEN I AND ANDREAD HAVEN I AND STATUTE I ANDREAD MI ING COLL STATUTE I ANDREAD MI ING COLL	Net represente under X. 2013 Fage 2 of 8 where X. 2013 Mail arenial Suffety Data Silineté Xinglo-Walled Carlow Nome Mail arenial Suffety Data Silineté Xinglo-Walled Carlow Nome Mail arenial Suffety Data Silineté Xinglo-Walled Carlow Nome Carlos Berlinet Suffety Suffety Suffety Suffety Suffety Suffety Suffety Suffety Watter Suffety Suf
STATUTE I HE CALL FLASE PORT: FLASE PORT: ANDRESS HERE AN ANDRESS HERE AND ANDRESS HERE AND ANDRESS HERE AND ANDRESS HERE AND MIT AS SOCIAL STATUTE (AAME) SHI INNERNA (E AAME) SHI DATES (SHE AGAINS) SHE ANDRESS HERE AND AND ANDRESS HERE AND ANDRESS HERE AND AND ANDRESS HERE AND ANDRESS HERE AND AND ANDRESS HERE AND ANDRESS HERE AND ANDRESS HERE AND ANDRESS HERE ANDRESS HERE AND ANDRESS HERE AN	Not reprint the second
STATUTE II I CALL FLASE POINT MIDELON HAVENT MIDELON HAVENT MIDELON HAVENT MIDELON SWATT MIDELON MIDELO	Net registrative Alter registrative Alter registrative Page 2 of 8 Alter red Staffer J Data Shireet: Staffa-Walled Clarkwin Neurole Alter and Alter red Staffa-Walled Alter and Alte
Enable Fords	Not represente unfor XX 2001 Page 2 of 8 Material Sufety Data Sheety States Walled Curtees Name Material Sufety Data Sheety States Walled Curtees Name (States 2 of Curtees Name (
STATUTE I THE CALL FLASE POINT: FLASE POINT: MIDECO HAVEN I AND	Net representing See representing Mader 24 2017 Mader 24 2017
Example 11 (LCAL) Frank Poort: MILEON Barren 1 MILEON Barren 1 CONTRACTOR DECISION CONTRACTOR DECISION MILEON DECISION MILEON DECISION SUPERIOR DATA: "Tomas and a first and a first and Dataset State Anomalia Dataset Anomali	Notifygicalis unlaw X, Mill Fage 2 of 8 Addaterial Sufety Data Sheety Staglo-Natifs Cortism Named National Stafety Data Sheety Staglo-Natifs Cortism Named Material Sufety Data Sheety Staglo-Natifs Cortism Named Name Material Sufety Stagle Sheety Stag
Enable Floor: Floor Poor: MEDEDI Reven MEDEDI Reven MEDEDI Reven MEDEDI State Poor: State I and Annual Mind on a State I and Annual Mind on a Mind on a Min	Not reprint the second
Enable Pools Paste Pools Past	Net represente Alter represente Alter Fall Suffety Data Siliceté Stagio-Walled Carlow Name Malerial Suffety Data Siliceté Stagio-Walled Carlow Name Material Suffety Data Siliceté Stagio-Walled Carlow Name Material Suffety Data Siliceté Stagio-Walled Carlow Name Material Suffety Suffety Suffety Suffety Suffety Suffety Net Suffety
Sanako 24 and 24	Not represente under XX, 2001 Martinetal Stuffety Datala Streeds Stanges-Walled Curriere Name Martinetal Stuffety Datala Streeds Stanges-Walled Curriere Name Standard Stuffety Datala Streeds Stanges-Walled Curriere Name Standard Stuffety Stuffety Stanges-Stuffety Stanges-Stuffety Stanges-Stuffety Stanges Stanges Stuffety Stanges Stuffety Stanges Stuffety Stanges Stanges Stanges Stuffety Stanges Stuffety Stanges Stanges Stuffety Stanges Stanges Stanges Stuffety Stanges Stanges Stanges Stanges Stanges Stanges Stanges Stan
	Net represente unter y presente unter y 2012 Naterrial Sufety Data Shiredy Single-Walled Carlies Neuros Naterrial Sufety Sufety Sufety Sufety Sufety Naterrial Sufety Sufety Sufety Sufety Sufety Naterrial Sufety Sufety Sufety Sufety Sufety Naterrial Sufety Sufety Sufety Sufety Naterrial Sufety Sufety Sufety Sufety Naterrial Sufety Sufety Sufety Naterrial Sufety Sufety Sufety Naterrial Sufety
Encode Form: Product Form: Product Form: Control Sectors: Control Sectors: Control Sectors: Control Sectors: Control Sectors: Million Control: Million Control: Mill	Not represente Vertingen unit vertin
Enance Forder Development Status Langer Carrel Received Langer Carre	Not reprint the second
Encode Form: Finance Form: Finance Form: Finance Form: Constructions Constructions Constructions Constructions Metaleonic Following Metaleonic Fo	Notifyginalis unlaw X, 2013 Fagir 2 of 8 Mail resid Sufety Data Silicet & Single-Wallod Corrison Named Name Mail resid Sufety Data Silicet & Single-Wallod Corrison Named Name Mail resid Sufety Data Silicet & Single-Wallod Corrison Named Name Mail resid Sufety Data Silicet & Single-Wallod Corrison Named Name Mail resid Silicet & Single Association Name Mail reside Silicet Association Name
	Not reprint an
Encode Forder Texter Forder MERCEDI Harver 1 Carrel Texter Carrel Texter Den: Sev Carrel Texter Den: Sev Carrel Texter Den: Sev Carrel Texter Den: Sev Wind coart Status 1 Status 1 Statu	Notingenoise unlaw X, 2013 Fage 2 of 8 Addaterial Sufety Data Silect? Single-Wallod Corrien Name Name Material Sufety Data Silect? Name Material Silect? Name <
Encode Factors Factor Factors Sectors in the sectors of the Person of the sectors of the Person of the sectors of the Mitches Sectors of the sectors Mitches Sectors of the Mitches Sectors of	Not reprint the where SX, 50(2) Figs: 2 of 8 where SX, 50(2) Figs: 2 of 8 Walterial Suffery Data Sheed Yingdo-Walted Curloss Neuros Statement St
Construction of the second sec	Notifying section unless X, 2012 Page 2 of 8 Additional Studiety Databa Shoredy Standards-Waldow Carlows Named Standards Studiety Databa Shoredy Standards-Waldow Carlows Named Standards Studiety Databa Shoredy Standards-Waldow Carlows Named Standards Studiety Databa Shoredy Standards Waldow Carlows Named Standards Studiety Studiety Standards Standards Standards Standards Standards Studiety Standards Standard St
Constraints Constrain	Net register in a second secon
Constraints Constrain	Notifying and in unless X, 2012 Figs: 2 of 8 Additional Staffety Data Sheeds Natified Carlow N
Control Form Control Control Form Control Form Control Control For	Nationprint and a second secon
Constraints Constrain	Notifyptionin untervisit Suffety Data Sheety Single-Walled Currier Neuron Adaterial Suffety Data Sheety Single-Walled Currier Neuron Adaterial Suffety Data Sheety Single-Walled Currier Neuron Amazon Society Data Sheety Single-Walled Currier Sciety Single-Walled Currier Neuron Amazon Society Data Sheety Single-Walled Currier Sciety Single-Walled Currier Neuron Amazon Society Data Sheety Single-Walled Currier Sciety Singl

This induct a luminotational association is the terms of TSCR conceptions and provide the interception of the stand is a result of more and proposed on the interception of the stand is a result of the terms of the stand is a stand in the more provide the stand is a stand in the more provide the stand is a stand in the stand in the stand is a stand in the stand in the stand is a stand in the stand in the stand is a stand in the stand in the stand is a stand in the stand is a stand in the stand is a stand in the stand in the stand is a stand in the stand in the stand is a stand in the stand in the stand is a stand in the stand in the stand in the stand in the stand is a stand in the stand in t

MS(1983) I: Revealer 30, 2013 Okual Gaza Data: Mecenter 30, 2013 Persiers lega Daw Decealer 30, 2011



Certificate of Analysis

SG65i Material

Parameter	Specification	Measured Value	Measurement Method
P2B	≥ 5.5	6.68(@981nm)	UV-vis-NIR Spectroscopy
\$2B	>0.75	0.83	UV-vis-NIR Spectroscopy
(6,5) content (% of sc tubes)	≥ 40	41	N52
Semiconducting tube Content (%)	≥ 95	TBD	UV-vis-NIR Spectroscopy
Residual Mass (%)	<5	3.35	TGA
Average diameter (nm)	0.78±0.1	0.78	N52
Raman Q = (1-D/G)	≥ 0.97	0.975	N52
Relative Purity (T1%)	≥93	99.17	TGA

TBD = to be determined

Information certified by:

Philip Wallin.

Philip Wallis Director, Quality & Technical Support SouthWest Nanotechnologies

DISCLAIMER: THE INFORMATION HEREIN IS PROVIDED IN GOOD FAITH, AND IS BELIEVED TO BE ACCURATE. NO WARRANTY, EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, IS MADE REGARDING THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THIS INFORMATION.

Optical Absorbance Spectrum – Lot# SG65i-L39



Thermogravimetric Analysis - Lot# SG65i-L39



Raman Spectrum – Lot# SG65i-L39



Chiral Distribution – Lot# SG65i-L39



Diameter Distribution – Lot# SG65i-L39

